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To the Board of Governors

In accordance with Article 35 of the Agreement Establishing the Black Sea 
Trade and Development Bank and Section 10 of its By-Laws, I submit to 
the Board of Governors the Bank’s Annual Report for 2012 as endorsed by 
the Board of Directors. The Fourteenth Annual Report contains the Bank’s 
financial statements; separate financial statements for the operations of 
the Bank’s Special Funds have also been issued, as prescribed in Section 
12 of the Bank’s By-Laws.

Andrey Kondakov

Chairman of the Board of Directors

President

Black Sea Trade and Development Bank
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Following a pattern that lately has become all too 
familiar, the global economy in 2012 was character-
ized by uncertainty, with an ebb and flow of crises 
and market volatility which have taken their toll on 
stability and growth. As a neighbor to the European 
Union, which was beset by the Eurozone crisis par-
ticularly in the first half of the year, the Black Sea re-
gion was inevitably affected by contagion from that 
crisis as well as the fear of further spillover effects 
emanating from Western Europe. This only added to 
the array of everyday challenges faced by the re-
gion’s economies as they seek to consolidate the 
reforms of previous years, and to secure stability in 
order to lay the basis for sustained economic devel-
opment.

Impressively, most of the countries of the Black Sea 
Economic Cooperation (BSEC) achieved positive, 
albeit lower, rates of economic growth. As a whole, 
real regional GDP growth averaged 2.1 percent in 
2012, demonstrating once again the resilience of 
the region’s economies in the face of unfavorable 
external conditions. The growth was underpinned 
by stable and improving macroeconomic indica-
tors – historically low inflation, declining fiscal defi-
cits, better current account balances, generally low 

levels of public debt, stable financial sectors, and a 
business environment which continued its impres-
sive momentum of reform and progress. 

Once again, countries from the Black Sea region fea-
tured prominently among the best performers in the 
various publications devoted to the measurement 
of business environment, such as the World Bank’s 
Doing Business Report. Taken alongside the resolve 
and flexibility that have become hallmarks of the 
firms and banks that operate in the Black Sea region, 
this highlights the improving competitiveness of the 
region and its favorable prospects.

The Black Sea Trade and Development Bank has 
sought to work with such dynamic firms and finan-
cial institutions, to help them expand, modernize, 
and fulfill their potential, thus creating wealth and 
new jobs for the benefit of the region’s economies. 
The Bank is particularly proud of its role in two areas. 
First, the growing portfolio of small and medium en-
terprise operations, which provides targeted assis-
tance to those firms that need financial, networking, 
and informational support and often represent the 
most vigorous and energetic sector of the economy. 
Second, regionally based firms which invest in other 
member countries, helping to provide finance and 
risk mitigation services to companies which expand 
their market coverage, provide new services and 
products to customers in the market in which they 
have invested, and promote regional cooperation in 
a mutually beneficial manner for the investor and for 
the local economy.

In 2012, the BSTDB Board of Directors approved 16 
new operations for EUR 161.2 million, and 15 opera-
tions amounting to EUR 168.0 million were signed. 
These figures represent a slowdown relative to 2011, 
as the Bank adopted a more cautious outlook to new 
operational development in light of heightened un-
certainties. Priority was given to consolidation and 
ensuring that operations approved and signed in 
previous years completed their cycle through to dis-
bursement. Indeed, disbursements (including rollo-
vers and renewals) increased by nearly ten percent 
to EUR 224.0 million for the year. At year end, the 
Bank’s outstanding portfolio had grown to EUR 785.9 
million, up 9.1 percent compared to end 2011.

Significantly, for the eighth consecutive year the 
Bank registered positive net income in 2012. Rela-
tive to 2011, it increased 48.4 percent to EUR 14.9 
million. The Bank also maintained the good quality 

Statement by the President
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of its operational portfolio and focused on stabiliz-
ing the level of problem projects.

The challenging situation in markets prompted the 
Bank to revise its Medium Term Strategy and Busi-
ness Plan (MTSBP) for the 2011–2014 period. After 
thorough review of the document, the BSTDB Board 
of Governors opted for a more careful approach tar-
geting annual growth to the order of 7–7.5 percent, 
which is roughly the historical average growth rate 
of the Bank, until conditions permit more rapid ex-
pansion closer to the original base case scenario.

Externally, the Bank maintained its active stance, 
participating in and contributing to various forums 
of development banks that discuss issues of common 
interest, including harmonization of procedures and 
indicators, enhancing risk management techniques, 
promoting important developmental agendas and 
expanding the scope and depth of information shar-
ing.

In 2012, the Bank updated its human resources poli-
cies in line with prevailing best practices. It also  

finalized the first phase of the automation of its op-
erational cycle within the SAP system, improving the 
structuring of data and reporting, the securing of 
data integrity, and the sharing of information across 
systems. The BSTDB also completed its secured vital 
records management system, moved vital records to 
a secure offsite storage facility, updated its business 
continuity processes, initiated implementation of a 
new and enhanced disaster recovery site, and up-
graded virtual infrastructure as well as the security 
software to secure remote access to Bank systems.

BSTDB is committed to the pursuit of its strategy of 
managed operational expansion in order to meet 
the growing demand from regional firms, banks, 
and agencies while also undertaking additional ac-
tivities that promote the Black Sea region, increasing 
awareness and interest. The underlying driving ob-
jective is the creation of added added for the Bank’s 
shareholders, and the contribution to the founding 
vision of the institution to promote economic devel-
opment and regional cooperation.

Andrey Kondakov

Chairman of the Board of Directors 
President 

Black Sea Trade and Development Bank
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Highlights of 2012

• The BSTDB Board of Directors approved 16 new 
operations for EUR 161.2 million, and 15 op-
erations amounting to EUR 168.0 million were 
signed. 

 Disbursements increased by nearly ten percent 
to EUR 224.0 for the year1. At year end, the Bank’s 
outstanding portfolio had grown to EUR 785.9 
million, up 9.1 percent compared to end 2011.

 The Bank registered positive net income in 2012 
for the eighth consecutive year. It increased 48.4 
percent over the previous year, to EUR 14.9 mil-
lion. 

• In August 2012, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s 
reaffirmed their long-term and short-term credit 
ratings of BSTDB, at A3/P-2 and A/A-1 respective-
ly, both with stable outlook.  BSTDB remained the 
best-rated financial institution in the Black Sea 
region and one of the top-rated in Central and 
Eastern Europe. 

• In September 2012, the Bank issued its debut 
Swiss Franc (CHF) bond. The CHF 200 million, 
four-year unsecured bond with a coupon of 2.5% 
had Credit Suisse as sole arranger and attracted 
more than 50 investors, including asset manag-
ers, private banks, and retail clients. The pro-
ceeds of the issuance are assisting BSTDB in re-
sponding to the funding needs of its clients in the 
Bank's member countries.  

• BSTDB continued to expand its cooperation with 
other partners in development to facilitate knowl-
edge sharing aimed at increasing developmen-
tal effectiveness. In 2012, in Thessaloniki, BSTDB 
hosted annual meetings of the European Chief 
Compliance Officers of European International 
Financial Institutions and of the Chief Legal Of-
ficers of sixteen leading IFIs, as well as an inter-
national seminar of the IFIs Evaluation Coopera-
tion Group on post evaluation systems. The Bank 
has also contributed to the IFIs meetings of the 
Heads of Procurement, the Development Finan-
cial Institutions Corporate Governance Working 
Group and Independent Accountability Mecha-
nisms, and to the meetings of IFI Board Secretar-
ies.

  

• A joint report “International Finance Institutions 
and Development through the Private Sector” 
produced by 31 development institutions, was 
presented and discussed at the Business Forum 
hosted by the Bank on the occasion of its 14th An-
nual Meeting in Yerevan, Armenia. The report 
highlighted the significant role IFIs play in cata-
lyzing private sector involvement by encourag-
ing entrepreneurial initiatives that help growth 
and job creation.

1 As calculated using the 2012 year-end Euro exchange rates.



9

Economic Developments in the 
Black Sea Region during 20122

Economic Overview of 
2012 in the Black Sea 
Region
Economic growth in the Black Sea region slowed 
in 2012, relative to the outturns of the two previous 
years. As Figure 1 shows, the region’s average real 
GDP growth in 2012 was an estimated 2.1%, roughly 

half the levels of growth achieved in 2010 and 2011. 
To some extent, this slowdown is disappointing, 
since the rates achieved in the previous years had 
seemed to imply that the region had put behind it 
the short but severe recession that resulted in the 
aftermath of the global financial crisis in September 
2008 and led to a 6.4% contraction of GDP in 2009, 
among the highest in the world. 

2 Note on Sources: Black Sea Region data based on BSTDB calculations from National Statistical Agencies of the countries of the Black 
Sea Region and the International Monetary Fund IFS Database. Additional sources referred to include Global Economic Prospects 2013 
of the World Bank (as well as earlier GEPs), the IMF’s World Economic Outlook publications (and their updates) and the Economist 
Intelligence Unit. As many figures at the time of writing represent estimates for 2012, actual final figures may differ in detail, but the 
overall trends discussed in this section will not be altered.

Figure 1: Black Sea Region Average Annual Real GDP Growth
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At first glance, it suggests that the more robust 
growth of the previous two years was due to recov-
ery from the recession, and once this was achieved, 
growth slipped back to a mediocre post-crisis trend. 
Since the Black Sea region is largely composed of 
middle income countries, weak growth means that 
convergence to the higher income levels and living 
standards of Western Europe becomes more diffi-
cult to achieve.

A second, closer look at the region reveals a more 
nuanced picture. The Black Sea region’s 2.1% real 
GDP growth was achieved despite declines in ag-
ricultural production in most countries. While agri-
culture’s share of GDP formation has generally de-
clined over time, it remains a vital sector but also 
one which is prone to sizeable year-on-year fluc-
tuations, vulnerable to exogenous factors. After a 
bumper year in 2011, poor weather in 2012 – chiefly 
drought – affected agricultural production in most 
of the region negatively and put downward pres-
sure on GDP output figures. By comparison, growth 
in services – including construction – and in indus-
trial production was softer than in 2010 or 2011, but 
generally in positive territory and more stable than 
agriculture.

Weighed against other regions, the picture was 
mixed. Relative to key emerging market regions 
such as East Asia (7.5% GDP growth), South Asia 
(5.4%), Latin America (3.0%), or the Middle East 
and North Africa (3.8%), the Black Sea region’s 
growth was much lower. However, the Black Sea re-
gion outperformed the entire European Union (EU) 
which suffered a contraction of approximately 0.5%, 
including the Eurozone, which shrank by 0.3% over-
all, as well as the eight Central European and Baltic 
countries3 – the “CEE & Baltics” that joined the EU in 
2004 and, as former “transition” countries, are often 
compared to the countries of the greater Black Sea 
region – which grew at an anemic 0.9%.

The Eurozone’s recession, and its continuing prob-
lems emanating from the debt crisis which spilled 
across borders, are the key reasons for the softness 
of growth in the Black Sea region. The EU, and more 
specifically the Eurozone area, is by far the most sig-
nificant economic partner of the member countries 

of the Black Sea region. EU members are the most 
significant trade partners of most Black Sea Eco-
nomic Cooperation (BSEC) member countries, and 
they are also the principal source of financing and 
foreign direct investment.

Economic downturns in the EU result in reduced 
demand for Black Sea exporters. The Eurozone cri-
sis – which peaked in mid-2012 and subsequently 
subsided although at end 2012 was by no means 
over – impacted negatively the risk appetite of EU 
based financiers and potential investors, thus result-
ing in reduced interest (and ability) to undertake 
investment or provide other forms of financing to 
the Black Sea region. Put differently, high levels of 
uncertainty in the Eurozone spilled over into the 
Black Sea region and were key contributing factors 
to forestalled investment and consumption.

The EU effect becomes more obvious when look-
ing at the outturns of individual BSEC countries (see 
Table 1). Continuing a trend observed in 2010 and 
2011, countries in the western part of the Black Sea 
region as a rule fared worse than countries in the 
eastern part of the Black Sea region. The western 
countries, of course, are closer geographically to 
the EU and they are also more tightly intertwined 
institutionally – with three Black Sea countries also 
being members of the EU – as well as economically, 
with a larger share of their external trade going to/ 
coming from the EU, greater ownership of domestic 
financial institutions by EU based banks, and tighter 
financing and investment links. The negative spillo-
ver is higher in the western part of the Black Sea re-
gion relative to the eastern part, and this is readily 
observed in individual country GDP figures.

Growth rates showed considerable variation among 
countries, but only two countries, Armenia and 
Georgia, achieved high rates of real GDP growth in 
excess of 5%. Three states posted moderate growth 
of between 2–5%, four states registered low growth 
of less than 2%, and three states experienced con-
tractions, in real terms. Nine out of the twelve BSEC 
countries posted lower GDP rates in 2012, relative to 
2011, consistent with the overall climate of weaker 
growth. In three cases, the observed drops in growth 
were significant, exceeding 5%.

3 Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia.
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Table 1: Summary of Key Economic Indicators for 2012, by BSEC Member Country

GDP
Growth

Inflation Cur Acct 
Bal / GDP

Budget /
GDP

Public
Debt / GDP

FDI / GDP

Albania 1.1% 2.0% -11.7% -3.4% 60.9% 6.5%

Armenia 7.2% 2.6% -8.4% -1.5% 44.2% 5.4%

Azerbaijan 2.2% 1.1% 21.7% 0.3% 12.6% 1.2%

Bulgaria 0.8% 3.0% -1.3% -0.8% 18.5% 3.7%

Georgia 6.1% -0.9% -11.5% -2.9% 34.9% 5.5%

Greece -6.4% 1.5% -2.9% -6.6% 157.5% 0.2%

Moldova -0.8% 4.6% -7.0% -2.5% 28.3% 2.2%

Romania 0.2% 3.3% -3.8% -2.5% 34.6% 1.2%

Russia 3.4% 5.1% 3.7% 0.4% 11.5% 2.6%

Serbia -1.7% 7.8% -10.6% -6.4% 44.5% 0.9%

Turkey 2.2% 8.9% -6.0% -2.0% 36.1% 1.6%

Ukraine 0.2% 0.6% -8.4% -3.3% 34.7% 4.4%

Sources: National Statistical Agencies

On the expenditure side, in most countries, private 
consumption was the main contributing source of 
positive growth. Government consumption was gen-
erally down, as governments persisted with long 
running efforts to improve their fiscal position and 
reduce outstanding debt, both of which expanded 
during the economic downturn of 2009 when rev-
enues had fallen sharply. Weaker economic growth 
meant that revenue projections became more un-
certain, and this in turn necessitated reductions in 
spending in order to maintain, or avoid deteriora-
tion in fiscal balances. Investment growth was also 
weak in comparison with 2011, primarily due to the 
prevailing climate of uncertainty – which always has 
a dampening effect on investment. 

The principal exceptions to this trend were the en-
ergy rich states, which draw a large share of gov-
ernment revenues from the extraction and sale of oil 
and gas and have enjoyed windfalls from high ener-
gy prices in recent years. Notwithstanding the rising 
dependence of budget revenues upon energy pric-
es (which are volatile and therefore prone to sharp 
adjustments upwards and downwards), the energy 
rich countries enjoyed a more robust fiscal position 

relative to the regional countries without significant 
energy resources, and they recycled a larger share 
of those earnings, mainly in the form of rising public 
salaries and higher public investments. 

In contrast to previous years, external trade was an 
area of weakness, with exports growing a very mod-
est 2.3%. This came after two years of robust export 
growth of nearly 26% in 2010 and 28% in 2011. While 
a portion of these figures represented recovery from 
the trade crash in 2009 (when exports contracted 
32.7%), exports reached historical record levels in 
2011 both in absolute terms and as a share of GDP. 
By way of contrast, even though in nominal terms ex-
ports reached a record USD 923 billion in 2012, as a 
share of GDP they declined from 25.9% in 2011 to 
25.8% in 2012.

Encouragingly, other key indicators show stable 
and sustainable trends. Consumer price inflation 
declined in all countries, continuing a trend of de-
clining price pressures over the years. For the first 
time, all Black Sea region countries posted single 
digit rates of inflation, and for nine countries the 
rate was below 5%. What makes this achievement 
all the more impressive is that it occurred during 
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a poor year for agricultural production. In the past, 
food output had resulted in sharply higher food 
prices, and since food has a significant weighting 
in the consumer “basket” of goods surveyed for cal-
culation of price indices, this usually fed through to 
higher inflation in the economy as a whole. That this 
did not occur in 2012 was largely due to the effec-
tive monetary policies carried out over the years 
throughout the region. These policies have been 
applied consistently and established the credibility 
of governments’ “inflation fighting” credentials and 
thus led to lower expectations of price increases.

Fiscal adjustment was also sustained, as in most 
countries budget balances for 2012 improved rela-
tive to the balances achieved in 2011. This is a con-
tinuation of a process of fiscal consolidation that 
began in 2010 in an effort to offset the large deterio-
rations experienced in late 2008 and 2009 when the 
post-financial crisis economic recession resulted 
on the one hand in a decline in revenues, due to re-
duced economic activity, and on the other hand in 
increased spending due to systemic stabilizers such 
as increased unemployment and welfare benefits, 
support to the financial sector to avert disruptions, 
and in certain instances fiscal stimulus efforts to 

counteract sudden and substantial declines in pri-
vate economic activity.

The rapid bounce back of economic growth in 2010 
and 2011 facilitated the efforts of governments to 
restore greater fiscal balance, and the impressive 
results are evident in Figure 2, as an overall adjust-
ment in excess of 6% of GDP was achieved in a mere 
two years. In addition to the weighted average of fis-
cal balances for the whole Black Sea region, Figure 
2 also shows balances for region minus Russia and 
Russia individually. This is because Russia carries 
a very high weighting in the calculation of regional 
averages, and as a result it can skew the overall av-
erage. This is especially relevant for budget data, 
since Russia usually posts sizeable surpluses on the 
strength of energy related revenues, while most of 
the rest of the Black Sea region posts fiscal deficits. 
For 2012, the Black Sea region sans Russia reduced 
its overall budget deficit a bit further, with most of 
the reduction attributable to the aforementioned 
slower government spending. By way of contrast, 
Russian government expenditures grew at a higher 
rate, relative to revenue growth, and after achieving 
a surplus in 2011, it was roughly in balance for 2012.

Figure 2: Trends in Average Fiscal Deficit of BSEC Region as a Share of GDP
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While there were some marked changes in the cur-
rent account balances of individual countries, on 
the whole the external balance picture was mixed. 
Countries posting significant improvements in the 
current account balance included: Greece, which 
experienced a large decrease in its trade deficit due 
to an increase in exports and a very large drop in 
imports; Turkey, facing the risk of overheating due 
to burgeoning domestic demand growth and large 
capital inflows, sought to contain erosion of its exter-
nal competitive position via a weaker lira combined 
with a restrictive but innovative monetary policy and 
tighter fiscal policy; and Armenia, which enjoyed an 
increase in remittances as well as stronger exports 
of manufactured goods. On the flip side, Azerbaijan, 
which along with Russia posts high structural trade 
surpluses due to energy receipts, experienced a 
sizeable decline in its current account surplus due 
to a contraction of production in the energy sector 
in 2012, which accounts for over 90% of exports. 
Countries such as Serbia and Ukraine experienced 
rises in their current account deficits due to declines 
in agricultural exports and weak demand for their 
manufactured exports (which were further hurt by 
declining prices for commodities such as steel). 
Other countries experienced small movements and 
more or less continued with the trend from the previ-
ous year.

In most countries, public debt levels and trends were 
little changed relative to 2011. Levels remained sta-
ble and relatively low. Ten out of the twelve BSEC 
countries have public debt levels below 45% of 
GDP, and in three cases – Azerbaijan, Bulgaria, and 
Russia – public debt levels are below 20% of GDP. 
Where differences exist, it is in the composition of 
external versus domestic debt, as countries with 
less developed financial sectors and weaker do-
mestic resource mobilization are generally more 
dependent upon external sources of financing. Lin-
gering concerns exist about uninterrupted access to 
finance on global financial markets, an unfortunate 
legacy of the September 2008 global financial crisis. 
Nevertheless, even for countries with a large share 
of foreign owed public debt, risks are low since the 
absolute debt levels are relatively low, year-on-year 
trends are stable, and much of this debt is owed to of-
ficial institutions such as the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF), with which a number of countries have 
lending arrangements, as well as bilateral lenders 
and other multilateral and bilateral development fi-
nance institutions.

Greece, and to a much smaller extent Albania, rep-
resent the two exceptions. In the case of the former, 
with the Eurozone crisis continuing, public debt lev-
els remain high although they declined substantially 
during 2012. Moreover, after three years of austerity, 
Greece’s “twin deficits” – fiscal and current account 
– have declined substantially, and a primary fiscal 
surplus is expected in 2013. Albania’s public debt 
is significantly lower and more manageable. Exter-
nal debt levels appear sustainable, since it is mostly 
domestically owned, and while there are concerns 
about a rising trend in recent years and a heavy re-
liance on short term debt which increases rollover 
risks, achievement of larger primary fiscal surplus-
es would substantially facilitate domestic debt man-
agement.

External debt owed by the private sector also re-
mained stable or declined for the most part, well be-
low the levels reached in the lending boom prior to 
the 2008 global financial crisis. Since the crisis, this 
figure has emerged as a key indicator of potential 
vulnerability as a number of countries with low pub-
lic debt levels nonetheless found themselves in dire 
predicaments when domestic banks and firms were 
unable to service or roll over large external debts 
which they had accumulated after international cap-
ital markets froze and access to financing was lost.

The crisis was thus imported through the private 
sector and brought about the economic contraction 
observed in 2009, and faced with imminent collapse 
of large numbers of banks and firms, governments 
were forced to provide official support to domestic 
financial systems, a necessary (and ultimately suc-
cessful) but expensive and politically controversial 
undertaking. In the aftermath of the crisis, borrow-
ing from abroad has been muted, and governments 
have carefully monitored trends, discouraging 
growth in external debt accumulation. The principal 
exception to this trend was Turkey, which experi-
enced a small surge in privately owed external debt 
levels as a result of its popularity as an investment 
destination and the increasingly attractive financing 
terms available to its private sector. However, the in-
crease was only from 27% of GDP to 33%, an amount 
that remains eminently manageable, especially in 
view of the depth and sophistication of the Turkish 
financial system and its regulatory bodies.
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Table 2: Select Financial Indicators for 2012, by BSEC Member Country

Credit / GDP Credit Growth Capital Adequacy Non-Perf /g Loans

Albania 67.6% 0.6% 16.2% 21.1%

Armenia 40.0% 26.6% 16.8% 3.7%

Azerbaijan 23.6% 27.8% 15.2% 5.9%

Bulgaria 70.6% 3.0% 16.7% 16.6%

Georgia 32.5% 12.9% 17.0% 4.0%

Greece 135.5% -17.8% 9.5% 18.7%

Moldova 42.4% 14.2% 24.4% 14.5%

Romania 47.3% 0.5% 14.6% 18.2%

Russia 42.6% 20.0% 13.7% 6.5%

Serbia 60.7% 13.0% 17.3% 20.4%

Turkey 58.7% 16.4% 17.9% 2.9%

Ukraine 73.5% 7.1% 18.1% 19.8%

Sources: National Statistical Agencies and Central Banks 
Note: Credit columns are for the full year. Capital Adequacy and NPLs are at end 2012, or latest available.

Table 2 shows that domestic borrowing, as measured 
by growth in credit, was for the most part relatively 
restrained. Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Moldova, 
Russia, Serbia, and Turkey experienced double dig-
it credit growth, with Azerbaijan leading the pace. 
By way of contrast, Greece experienced substantial 
deleveraging as domestic banks were unwilling or 
unable to lend to the“real” economy, faced with high 
degrees of uncertainty and the imposition of losses 
from debt restructuring and rising non-performing 
loans due to economic distress.

The slow credit growth is a natural consequence of 
the continuing post global financial crisis atmos-
phere of uncertainty, as banks have become more 
risk averse, regulators warier about trends and vul-
nerabilities, and consumers and firms more cautious 
about taking on debt. While this denotes a welcome 
departure from the free-wheeling credit binge 
prior to September 2008, the degree of this shift to 
greater prudence has resulted in substantial actual 
and opportunity costs for economic activity. Beyond 
Greece, which has a large and mature financial sec-
tor – albeit one which faces difficulties due to the 
Eurozone crisis and the country’s severe economic 
contraction – the size of financial sectors relative to 
the overall economy of other Black Sea countries is 
either modest in size or very small. This applies even 
to the relatively sophisticated markets of Russia and 
Turkey, which offer an increasing variety of products 
and instruments, but whose overall size has yet to 

reach full potential. More specifically, in the modest 
category are countries such as Albania, Bulgaria, 
and Ukraine with domestic credit to GDP ratios in 
the neighborhood of 70–80%. Remaining countries 
have much smaller financial sectors, for the most 
part with a domestic credit to GDP ratio below 50%.

The implication of these ratios is that, on the whole, 
financial intermediation in the Black Sea region is 
weak, as banks and other financial institutions do not 
attract significant levels of savings which they could 
then intermediate and lend in order to generate 
new investment and additional economic activity. 
Less activity means smaller markets, less competi-
tion among financiers – especially in highly concen-
trated markets with a few dominant players – and 
higher costs for end-borrowers, be they businesses 
or consumers. Over the longer term, it also means 
foregone economic growth, as the failure to mobilize 
greater levels of resources efficiently reduces the 
availability of such financial resources to potential 
investors. Weak domestic financial mobilization was 
one of the reasons that regional firms had so active-
ly sought external financing during the pre-crisis 
credit boom period, even though it left them vulner-
able to sudden external changes in risk appetite. 
Domestic creditors tend to have a more compatible 
risk appetite and to be significantly less susceptible 
to sudden waves of risk aversion when difficulties 
arise or an economy experiences a shock.
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It is a challenge recognized throughout the region, 
and one of the reasons that key authorities have 
sought to strengthen the role and independence of 
central banks and regulatory bodies in the execu-
tion of monetary policy and banking supervision, 
while also creating a competitive environment to at-
tract investment. Domestic banks have been encour-
aged to increase their role throughout the region, 
but it is at best a slow and lengthy process and will 
represent a challenge for the foreseeable future.

Furthermore, the prevailing climate of high risk 
aversion up to mid 2012 has proven an impedi-
ment to these efforts, aggravated in particular by 
the crisis in the proximate Eurozone. Under regular 
circumstances, global conditions would be consid-
ered highly favorable for increased capital flows to 
emerging markets such as the Black Searegion since 
these economies enjoy solid macroeconomic funda-
mentals, better growth prospects, and expectations 
for much higher returns than the wealthy economies 
of Western Europe. For their part, wealthy economies 
are awash with cash, due to the exceptionally loose 
monetary policy being followed in Western Europe 
(as well as the United States and Japan), which com-
bined with the prospect of poorer returns domes-
tically would normally push capital towards other 

destinations. Normally, Eastern Europe would be 
the first and favorite destination as Eurozone based 
banks and investors have been key actors provid-
ing financing to the CEE & Baltics and the Black Sea 
regions.

Yet, as Figure 3 shows, financial flows into Eastern Eu-
rope – including the Black Sea region – declined for 
the second straight year in 2012 and were less than 
half of the (admittedly excessive) levels achieved 
in 2007, just prior to the crisis. These declines are 
far more precipitous than for other regions such as 
Asia or Latin America, flows to which over the last 
couple of years have exceeded their pre-global fi-
nancial crisis peak achieved in 2007. That the levels 
achieved in those regions are not even high is be-
cause a number of countries considered attractive 
by markets (e.g. Brazil) resorted to capital control 
measures in order to limit inflows, for fear that the 
latter can reduce external competitiveness and have 
destabilizing effects upon the local economy when 
they are rapid and large. By way of contrast, Eastern 
Europe suffered disproportionately from the risk 
aversion created by the Eurozone crisis, something 
reinforced by a recovery of flows in the second half 
of 2012 after fears subsided and commercial bank 
financing in particular began to recover.

Figure 3: Capital Flows to Emerging Europe (BSEC Region and CEE & Baltics)
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A second, structural factor affecting financing flows 
and with implications for prospects in coming years 
is that western European banks have been forced 
into a process of deleveraging due to more stringent 
capital requirements and increased uncertainties 
about changes to the regulatory environment. They 
have been the primary sources of lending flows to 
Eastern Europe and have also been significant in-
vestors, especially in the CEE & Baltics and the west-
ern BSEC region where foreign ownership by Euro-
zone based banks dominates local banking sectors. 
Thus, pressure to deleverage will contain both the 
willingness and the ability to continue expansion 
into Eastern Europe. Worse, in cases of duress, there 
are risks that parent banks may resort to withdraw-
ing funds from subsidiaries back to the “center” in 
order to meet the requirements at home, thus starv-
ing regionally based banks of available resources.

What is true for capital flows generally, applies to 
foreign direct investment (FDI) specifically. After 
two consecutive years of growth, FDI into the Black 

Sea region declined both in absolute and relative 
terms in 2012. As Figure 4 shows, relative to 2011, 
FDI declined by nearly 17% from USD 89 billion 
to USD 74 billion. As a share of GDP, the drop was 
from 2.5% in 2011 to 2.1% in 2012 and is the low-
est level achieved since 2003, when the investment 
boom was still at an early stage. FDI in 2012 was 
nearly half the level of the peak year of 2008, with 
activity particularly slow in the first part of the year 
and somewhat brisker in the second half after the 
Eurozone crisis subsided. Attributing this uptick so 
quickly to remission of the Eurozone crisis is tricky, 
since FDI takes longer to plan and implement, par-
ticularly in an upward direction, relative to portfolio 
investment or lending activity. However, it portends 
favorably for 2013. For purposes of comparison, the 
FDI results are very similar to those observed in the 
CEE & Baltics, where FDI declined by 16% in 2012 
relative to 2011, and as a share of GDP the drop was 
from 2.7% to 2.4%.

Among individual countries, Armenia represented 
the only case where FDI levels increased. Armenia, 
alongside Albania and Georgia, were the only three 
regional countries to attract FDI in excess of 5% of 

GDP. This is in sharp distinction to 2008, when nine 
out of twelve countries attracted FDI in excess of 5% 
of GDP.

Figure 4: Foreign Direct Investment in the Black Sea Region 2000–2012

Source: National Statistical Agencies & IMF-IFS
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Normally, FDI is a useful indicator for assessment of 
how the business environment in a particular coun-
try or region is perceived by principals, namely the 
investors who are putting their money at risk. There 
is an obvious connection between the ease of doing 
business in a particular location and the attractive-
ness of that location for external investors and finan-
ciers. In this respect, the Black Sea region suffered 
from the broader risk aversion that was particularly 
pervasive in the Eurozone in the first half of 2012. 
Fears of contagion and a general reluctance to invest 
or provide financing took their toll, even though the 
region continued to fare well by other measures of 
the quality of the business environment.

In the 2012–13 edition of the World Economic Fo-
rum’s Global Competitiveness Report, seven Black 
Sea countries improved their ranking relative to 
2011–2012, out of which six achieved a substantial 
improvement of nine or more places. Turkey rose 16 
places to 43rd overall, Bulgaria 12 to 62nd, Georgia 11 
to 77th, Armenia 10 to 82nd, Azerbaijan nine to 46th, 
and Ukraine also nine to 73rd.

Progress achieved is further corroborated in the 
World Bank’s 2013 Doing Business Report (which 
covers reforms in business environment during 
2011–12), the most systematic and analytical review 
of the absolute and relative business environments 
of 185 countries, including all BSEC members. Black 
Sea countries have been among the star reformers 
acknowledged in the Doing Business Report over the 
years, and 2011–12 was no exception. Three coun-
tries are ranked in the top ten economies improving 
the most across three or more areas measured by 
the report: Ukraine, tied for second, Greece which 
was eighth, and Serbia which was ninth. All Black 
Sea economies have enacted measures and reforms 
that have led to improvements in their overall busi-

ness environment score, and five are acknowledged 
as ranking among the top 50 reformers since 2005: 
Georgia in first place, Azerbaijan in 13th, Armenia in 
19th, Ukraine in 20th, and Albania in 50th.

The improving trend over time can be viewed in the 
evolution of country risk in the Black Sea region, an-
other broad measure of the quality of the business 
environment. Country risk assesses the likelihood 
of a non-business event occurring or a non-business 
related situation transpiring, which would threaten 
(i) normal operation of a company, (ii) the value of 
assets, and/or (iii) the profitability of loans and in-
vestments. The better (e.g. lower) that the level of 
country risk is in a country, the better the business 
environment tends to be. Figure 5 shows collective 
country risk developments for the Black Sea region 
(“BSEC”) as well as how it fares relative to: (i) the 
fifteen countries that comprised the European Union 
prior to its 2004 expansion (the “EU-15”), and (ii) the 
eight CEE & Baltic states. The figure collates country 
risk scores as measured by Euromoney Magazine in 
its periodic Country Risk surveys4.

The chart shows that from 1998–2008, the Black Sea 
region steadily improved its measures of country 
risk. In 2009, in the aftermath of the crisis, it suf-
fered a decline in its score – that is an increase in 
country risk. It resumed its pattern of improvement 
in 2010 but experienced setbacks in 2011 and 2012 
in absolute terms. The 2009 decline is the result of 
the global financial crisis of 2008 and its subsequent 
economic downturn, which afflicted the entire re-
gion. The 2010 improvement coincides with the re-
sumption of growth, while the declines in 2011 and 
2012 are linked to the Eurozone crisis, and the fears 
of contagion which affected economic growth and 
investment flows.

4 Euromoney’s Country Risk survey is a comprehensive index, covering nine categories. Figure 5 provides summary regional 
representations based on arithmetic averages. They are not weighted to account for the relative size of economies’ other factors. The 
figure was prepared for illustrative purposes and shows the evolution of country risk scores over time. For the bars, an increase in 
score means an improvement (e.g. lowering) of country risk, with 100 representing the maximum (e.g. lowest risk) score. For the lines, 
a declining trend indicates decreasing differences in country risk scores between the regions being compared (e.g. convergence of 
scores and country risk levels).
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Relative to the two key comparison groups (a) the 
EU-15, and (b) the CEE & Baltic states, the Black Sea 
region continues to show improvement, especially 
relative to the former. Despite slipping in 2011 and 
2012, Black Sea countries have continued to narrow 
the difference in country risk vis-a-vis the EU-15, as 
shown by the decline in the line which measures dif-
ferences between the two. Risk perceptions relative 
to the CEE & Baltic states also show a narrowing of 
risk perceptions, although the difference has been 
smaller, and the trend has proven more gradual and 
stable over time.

Positive trends in the business environment extend 
to sovereign credit ratings of Black Sea countries, al-
though the global financial crisis and its aftermath 
have undone some of the progress that had been 
achieved (See Table 3)5. Every Black Sea country 
receives at least one sovereign rating from one of 
the three largest and most established credit rating 

agencies which dominate the market. This signi-
fies growing maturity and sophistication of regional 
economies, as well as progress since these ratings 
are in many cases essential for accessing interna-
tional capital markets. Domestically, they also help 
to set key benchmarks, which in turn facilitate the 
development and deepening of local financial mar-
kets.

Many regional economies were downgraded during 
2008–2009 as they experienced the impact of the 
global crisis, and while aggregate ratings are still 
below the levels attained prior to the crisis in 2007, 
a number of countries have subsequently achieved 
upgrades. Significantly, whereas in 1999 the Black 
Sea region had only one country rated with an in-
vestment grade, by end 2012 it had five with at least 
one investment grade rated by one of the principal 
rating agencies.

Figure 5: Regional Euromoney Country Risk Scores & Relative Differences

5 Long term sovereign credit ratings have flaws and limitations as indicators of the business environment, since they supposedly 
measure creditworthiness first and foremost. But they can be useful proxies, and they enjoy the virtues of recognition and easy 
comparability, as they analyze elements relating to country risk which correlate to the quality of the business environment. Investment 
grade refers to a sovereign credit rating of Baa3 or better according to Moody’s, and BBB- or better according to Standard & Poor’s 
and Fitch.

Source: Euromoney Magazine
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Table 3: BSTDB Sovereign Credit Ratings Comparison end 1999 vs. end 2012

December 1999 December 2012

Moody’s S&P Fitch Moody’s S&P Fitch

Albania – – – B1 B+ –

Armenia – – – Ba2 – BB-

Azerbaijan – – – Baa3 BBB- BBB-

Bulgaria B2 B B+ Baa2 BBB BBB-

Georgia – – – Ba3 BB- BB-

Greece A2 A- BBB+ C B- CCC

Moldova B2 – B- B3 – –

Romania B3 B- B- Baa3 BB+ BBB-

Russia Ca SD CCC Baa1 BBB BBB

Turkey B1 B B+ Ba1 BB BBB-

Ukraine B3 – – B3 B B

As a whole, the region recorded a very slight current 
account surplus equivalent to 0.1% of GDP in 2012, 
although Table 1 shows that there was considerable 
variation from country to country. In contrast to 2011 
and 2012, growth in trade was low and its contribu-
tion to GDP growth much more limited. In absolute 
terms, aggregate regional exports in 2012 grew 
2.3% to USD 923 billion, and regional imports in 2012 
fell slightly by 0.1% to USD 856 billion. While the 
combined absolute numbers are record figures, the 
growth rates are well off the 28.4% for exports and 
28.5% for imports recorded in 2011. Although the 
overall picture appears sluggish, it was linked to the 
difficulties and slowdown experienced in the Euro-
zone, the principal trading partner for the countries 
of the Black Sea region. Thus, as the Eurozone crisis 
subsided in mid-2012 and activity picked up in the 
latter part of the year, trade patterns followed suit.

Figure 6 shows trends in intra-regional trade within 
the Black Sea region. In previous years, the trend 
for Black Sea trade figures was that they moved in 
the same direction as overall external trade flows, 
but the rates of change were more amplified. That 
is, intra-regional trade grew (or declined) as did 
overall external trade, but it did so at a faster pace. 
Thus, in the years of growth, from 2000–2008 and 
the recovery year of 2010, intra-regional trade ex-
panded more quickly than overall external trade 
and showed an increasing share relative to the size 
of the economy, and as a proportion of total trade. 
Likewise, in 2009, the decline in intra-regional trade 
was bigger than the decline in overall trade, as is 
evident from the figure.

Source: Credit Rating Agencies
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Irrespective of the trends, intra-regional trade flows 
around the Black Sea remain low, especially when 
compared to other maritime regional blocs such as 
those around the Baltic Sea, the North Sea, or even 
Mediterranean Europe which stretches across the 
entire southern length of the continent. These re-
gions are more highly integrated economically, and 
flows of trade and investment among them are nota-
bly higher. Significantly, they are also integrated po-
litically and share a number of common institutions 
since they are either EU members or tightly linked 
to the EU7.

By way of contrast, the Black Sea region contains 
countries within the EU, or with EU membership 
prospects (as candidates or potential candidates) 
as well as countries without any EU membership 
prospects and consequently, no institutional links 
with the EU. As a result, intra-regional trade flows 
are less developed, with the EU in some instances 
helping to foster closer trade links (as is the case 
in the western BSEC region in which EU members, 
candidates, and potential candidates are located), 
and in other instances hurting closer trade links. EU 

linked states have relinquished control of their trade 
policy centrally to Brussels, and therefore they are 
restricted from pursuing bilateral or sub-regional 
trade arrangements with the non-EU linked states; 
the non-EU linked states must negotiate on their own 
with the EU as a whole, a much slower process since 
the 27-member-EU has highly diversified interests 
and prospects among its members, and countries 
in other parts of Europe are virtually unaffected by 
the lack of close trade ties. However, such underde-
veloped commercial ties among neighboring states 
of a sub-region represent significant real and op-
portunity cost for Black Sea countries, in the way of 
foregone economic growth, competitiveness gains, 
and increased effective market available to regional 
firms.

An additional consideration (linked to market size) 
is the extent to which a “safe haven” exist for firms 
and banks to fall back upon in times of turmoil when 
external trade prospects diminish. Tightly linked 
regional markets tend to operate as a domestic 
market, with locally based financiers and firms less 
likely to be scared away by downturns or shocks for 

Figure 6: Intra-Regional Trade Flows in the Black Sea Region 1999–20116 

Source: National Statistical Agencies & IMF-IFS

6 Overall export and import estimates for 2012 were available at the time of publication for BSEC countries, but full bilateral figures 
country by country were not. Due to this measurement lag, only figures up to 2011 are discussed and shown in the figure.

7 For example, Norway is closely associated, while Croatia is due to join in 2013.
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reasons which may include (i) greater knowledge 
of and comfort operating in neighboring markets 
which share many of the characteristics and culture 
of a firm’s home market, and (ii) inability to flee, 
since a neighbor will remain a neighbor, and re-
gional problems may spill over, or problems need 
to be dealt with since abandonment is not possible 
(not to mention that a bit of foresight, commitment, 
and even magnanimity may reap future goodwill 
and rewards).

As a region, the Black Sea in 2012 had an estimated 
(i) GDP of around USD 3.6 trillion, (ii) population 
of 327 million, and (iii) an average per capita in-
come of nearly USD 11,000. While these figures hide 

considerable differences in wealth, size, economic 
structure, and growth trends, they highlight the tre-
mendous possibilities that exists for broader and 
deeper economic cooperation among the countries 
of the Black Sea. To do this would require political 
will and effort to open “pathways” for discussion of 
issues of common interest, some policy harmoniza-
tion, and consideration of expanded physical infra-
structure links (especially in transport, energy, and 
communications). The private sector has histori-
cally responded dynamically to such “positive sig-
nals”, with financing, investment links, and trade ties 
sharply increasing in the aftermath of the trailblaz-
ing political initiatives.
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In Focus: Sources of Economic 
Growth in the Black Sea Region 
2013 and beyond
The Economic Cycle and 
the BSEC Region
Economic growth tends to occur in a cyclical pat-
tern, with the major shareholding countries of BST-
DB in various stages of the economic cycle. As it ap-
pears now:

• Romania and Turkey are in Mid-cycle growth 
phase;

• Bulgaria and Russia are in Late-cycle growth 
phase;

• Greece and Ukraine are in the “winter” phase of 
the cycle.

Currently, the Eurozone is in recession, which is ex-
pected to continue in 2013 and thus to affect BSTDB 
Member Countries through lower capital inflows, 
lower value of remittances, and lower demand for 
regional exports. 

The global economy is projected to just inch up tim-
idly in 2013. Financial markets will remain volatile 
and uncertain, and the volume of global trade is not 
expected to grow significantly.

This uneven distribution of Member States over the 
economic cycle and the various degrees of expo-
sure to external factors require a differentiated ap-
proach to policy in order to either take advantage of 
the opportunities or to mitigate the challenges the 
Member Countries of BSTDB face. Notwithstanding 
the above, there are a number of commonalities, 
which underpin economic growth and development. 

The Need for Economic 
Growth
From 2000 to 2008, growth in the region was based on 
FDI inflows, credit growth, increases in domestic de-
mand, investment, but in particular export growth to 

Western European markets. This traditional growth 
model appears now to have been transitional. It 
came into question during the recent global finan-
cial crisis, and it has de facto come to an end with 
the economic setback of 2012, and the entry into re-
cession of the Eurozone in 2013. The large inflows of 
private foreign capital are no longer granted, finan-
cial sector deleveraging in the countries of parent 
banks has put its mark on credit availability, and fis-
cal contraction, has resulted in negative shocks for 
the domestic private sector.

Economic growth is intrinsically linked to devel-
opment. In order to secure sustainable economic 
growth, Member States would need to take into con-
sideration the following constraints imposed by re-
cent developments in the global economy:    

• First, export growth has in broad terms reached 
its limits, as in an age of austerity and stagnation 
demand from developed economies in general, 
and EU partners in particular, has weakened. 
One just cannot expect that all countries simul-
taneously, while reducing domestic demand, can 
increase output for selling in foreign markets. 

• Second, firms now organize production through 
regional and global value chains, distributing the 
production process across the world. Intermedi-
ate inputs make up the majority of global trade. 
In essence, about two thirds of global trade is 
intra-company trade.

• Third, access to foreign financing is scarce and 
uneven, with higher levels of risk aversion among 
the investor community than in the recent past.  

• Fourth, and not lastly, it appears that the crisis has 
induced a significant permanent decline in the 
rate of potential GDP growth. 
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The economic growth model has to be reconsidered 
in light of the complex interdependencies that gov-
ern the international trade and monetary system. 
Growth potential is strongly influenced not only 
by the BSTDB Member States domestic production 
structure but also by their external linkages.

This redirects the focus of attention toward domestic 
growth drivers and the role of technological change 
for the region’s growth potential, and in particular, to 
total factor productivity (TFP) as the part of econom-
ic growth which cannot be attributed to the accumu-
lation and varying utilization of production factors. 

In the context of transition and emerging economies 
with a short history of rapid growth and conver-
gence toward more advanced economies, 

• first, it is necessary to take into account linkages 
between sectors as well as changes in the eco-
nomic structure over time; 

• second, this development makes it even more ur-
gent for BSTDB Member States to induce growth 
of manufacturing industries; and

• third, it is desirable to take advantage of the yet 
unused potential for regional cooperation and 
take advantage to a larger degree of existing 
complementarities.

In this context, it may be argued that growth poten-
tial in the Black Sea region is conditional upon: 

• Initial conditions at the outset of the transition pe-
riod that have shaped the long-run growth path. 

• Structural reforms, which have played an impor-
tant role in the transition process, but are still in-
complete and need to be accelerated. 

• The BSTDB Member Countries have yet to go 
through various phases of structural adjustment 
in order to reach their true long-run economic 
equilibrium.

The Quest for Sustainable 
Growth 
Economic growth is an essential requirement for de-
velopment, and the major contributing factor to pov-
erty reduction. Furthermore, lower poverty and in-
come inequality are in turn conducive to economic 
growth. Unfortunately, income inequality is high and 
also rising. The average share of income captured 
by the richest 10% is now about ten times that of the 
poorest 10% – a ratio of 10 to 1. For example, we see 
this trend in OECD countries, with the average ratio 
at 9 to 1, up from 1985 when it was 7 to 1.

Table: Inequality, Income distribution, and Savings

Country Inequality Gini 
Coefficient* 

Share of income 
top 10%

Share of income 
lower 10%

National Savings 
Rates** (%)

Albania 34.5 28.9 3.5 15.1

Armenia 30.9 25.4 3.7 19.6

Azerbaijan 33.7 27.4 3.4 46.2

Bulgaria 28.2 22.8 3.3 21.4

Georgia 41.3 31.3 2.0 5.2

Greece 34.3 25.3 2.5 4.1

Moldova 33.0 25.9 3.0 12.8

Romania 30.1 25.0 3.3 22.2

Russia 40.1 31.7 2.6 24.7

Turkey 39.0 29.4 2.1 13.3

Ukraine 26.4 23.2 4.1 17.7

*) Source: World Bank, UNDP 2008 Gini of 0 reflects perfect equality
**) IMF 2010 (EU=18.5%)
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There are finite limits to growth based only on for-
eign relocation of production facilities in search of 
“pro-business” environments, such as low cost mod-
erate skills labor, low taxes, low levels of social pro-
tection and health and safety standards, and a dis-
proportionate share of disposable income that goes 
to remuneration of capital vis-a-vis the share that 
goes to remuneration of labor.

Social Inclusion
For growth to be rapid and sustained, it should be 
broad-based across sectors and inclusive of the 
large part of the work force. In order to maintain high 
rates of economic growth and continue the catching-
up process, labor and capital will have to become 
increasingly important as determinants of economic 
growth. Higher rates of labor participation, more ef-
ficient use of available resources in general could 
become cycle neutral if coupled with a more eq-
uitable distribution of income between labor and 
capital. High employment and participation rates, a 
skilled workforce, and the efficient allocation of la-
bor are crucial for real convergence of the countries 
in the region with the EU15.

Renewable Energy and 
New Technology
All countries are now looking for forms of growth 
that use resources more efficiently. Energy genera-
tion and transportation may be among the earliest 
drivers of greener growth, and this means changes 
that will affect everything, such as land values, urban 
planning, and farming. In agriculture, where there is 
a huge untapped potential, new technologies may 
play a role in helping the region becoming a major 
food producer and exporter. 

Manufacturing remains central to Black Sea region 
economies, in terms of productivity and income 
growth, and for innovation. But while there may not 
be many new jobs in existing manufacturing capac-
ity, successful new investments will stimulate job 
creation in upstream and downstream sectors, not to 
mention in related services. 

None of this would be possible without knowledge. 
The knowledge based industries – IT, biotechnol-
ogy, renewable energy, technical support services, 
new organizational structures, marketing and adver-
tising skills – are potential new sources of economic 
growth.

Continuous Education
Given the state of technology, non-inflationary, sus-
tainable growth depends crucially on the long-term 
trend of productivity growth. But most of all, coun-
tries have to invest in innovation and skills, set out 
innovation and green growth strategies, and review 
regulatory incentives. 

The shift to the production of high value added 
goods and services is facilitated by increased ef-
ficiency of production through adoption of techno-
logical change, increased utilization of capital, and 
higher work intensity. 

Higher wage rates for extra effort of workers deriv-
ing from higher degree of utilization of labor, the 
more rapid depreciation due to higher capital utili-
zation, lower total average cost of production, higher 
total revenues all contribute to increasing domestic 
demand for goods and services and thus, through 
spillover effects, trigger further increases in pro-
ductivity.

Determinants of 
Economic Growth
Natural Resources – the potential for growth of an 
economy depends to a significant extent on the re-
sources it has. Endowment of natural resources may 
help the economy to expand if there are the skills 
and technology to exploit the opportunities.

Savings Rate – to provide funds for investment, 
there needs to be a high level of savings. Higher sav-
ings mean higher investment and thus in turn mean 
more growth in the future. The level of investment 
in any economy depends to a large extent on the 
availability of domestic savings, and the ability to 
mobilize and intermediate these savings effectively. 
High-growth economies typically set aside a large 
share of their income, typically 20 to 25%. However, 
savings rates in Eastern and South Eastern Europe 
in general have been fairly low. In these countries, 
between 50 and 70% of investment is financed with 
companies’ own resources. The difference is made 
by bank credit and FDI. An important additional 
source of investment may be represented by target-
ing productive use of remittances. 
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Many countries adopt newly recommended regula-
tory changes to make financial markets more stable 
and competitive, and implement measures aimed 
at protecting citizens from the volatility of markets. 
These combined efforts will create in the medium–to 
long-term a banking environment that is more trans-
parent and stable. Measures to increase confidence 
in the financial sector and promote competition will 
better serve customers, and are likely to also induce 
higher levels of savings. 

Physical Capital / Infrastructure – the existing 
stock of capital and physical infrastructure is still in-
sufficient and not in a very good state. It is difficult 
to sustain rapid growth without high rates of public 
investment. Investment in infrastructure, but also in 
education and health, crowds in private investment 
by increasing the efficiency of private capital. In-
frastructure works are boosting private economic 
activity and generate positive externalities. Public 
investment is key in the short run, and further pri-
vate participation in such projects is a guarantee for 
long-term sustainability. Therefore, given the scar-
city of public resources, it is essential to prioritize 
those public sector investments which have a high 
catalytic role and present the highest potential for 
positive externalities.  

Human Capital – key to growth is the interaction 
between human and physical capital. Member 
States benefit from existing good stock of human 
capital, but in order to preserve such achievements 
and make further progress they need significant fur-
ther investment in health, education, R&D. Higher 
quality of education and a high ratio of spending for 
research to GDP translate into a high rate of tech-
nological change. They also need to adopt policies 
conducive to the reversal of demographic trends – 
natural population growth, migration. 

Institutions – for increases in public investments 
to lead to increases in private investments, the right 
economic, political, and legal framework should be 
in place. If the business climate is poor, public in-
vestment could have a “crowding-out” effect. Mem-
ber States are in need of deep and rapid institutional 
reform, public sector reform in particular, improved 
governance, and reduced bureaucracy and corrup-
tion, in order to increase investor confidence and 

improve the ease of doing business and economic 
freedom indicators. These are all determinant fac-
tors for a stable economic environment and posi-
tive business sentiment. Building solid institutions, 
adopting and implementing good policies, and de-
veloping administrative capacity are preconditions 
for sustainable growth.  

Public policy – policies need to remove the obsta-
cles to the growth process by increasing investment 
in basic social services, social protection and infra-
structure, and promoting environmental sustainabil-
ity. Policies such as those aiming at macroeconomic 
stability, institutional quality, effective governance, 
and favorable investment climate should promote 
economic growth by increasing incentives, oppor-
tunities, and capabilities for employment and entre-
preneurship.

Main Societal and 
Political Factors Affecting 
Economic Growth
There are two main internal factors that may influ-
ence economic growth: 

• Policy-induced – these are policies aimed at 
boosting the economic activity, which are com-
pensated by corrective deflation once growth 
objectives are achieved; and

• Expectations – these can have a powerful effect 
on growth through their impact on aggregate de-
mand.

In addition to domestic factors, there are also two 
mainly external factors that may influence economic 
growth:

• Random shocks – events that are relatively un-
predictable but have a significant effect on the 
economy; and

• Imported cycles – if the rest of the world is at 
turning points in the economic cycle, and the do-
mestic economy has a high degree of integration 
in the global economy, then it is likely that the do-
mestic economic activity will be affected through 
channels of foreign investment and foreign trade.
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Sources of Growth and 
Economic Development
Identifying and developing new sources of growth 
depends on the capacity and ability to develop the 
intellectual assets needed to create, promote, dif-
fuse, and adopt the innovations underpinning such 
growth.

Policymakers have to take a lead by permitting the 
emergence of new sources of growth and setting the 
regulatory ground to break down inertias, wheth-
er institutional or economic, that prevent break-
throughs to happen. 

Capital accumulation – is a key factor underlying 
economic growth, particularly at earlier stages of 
development. Higher levels of investment depend 
on higher savings rates and on the ability of the fi-
nancial sector to efficiently play its intermediary 
function. Investment is not only a direct contribu-
tor to higher output, it also brings more productive 
technologies and stimulates total factor productivity. 
Therefore, achieving higher investment rates should 
be a major objective for future growth in the Black 
Sea region.

A higher degree of financial intermediation is also 
positively correlated to total factor productivity 
growth. Financial intermediary sector alters the path 
of economic progress by affecting the allocation of 
savings; it is a policy which alters the savings rate. 
Therefore, securing a stable, solid, financial sector 
of a reasonable size relative to GDP should be a key 
concern of policy makers. 

The region may present increased attractivity for 
investment in low-cost, skill-intensive, high-value 
added jobs. The key lesson for policy is to encour-
age the accumulation of knowledge-based capital, 
and to be able to capture as much value from the 
investment as possible. The environment for invest-
ment in knowledge-based capital is likely to deter-

mine which countries retain or move into the highly 
value-adding segments of different industries. 

Ensuring good business frameworks, governments 
can help encourage firms to invest in certain high 
value functions, and while some low-skilled jobs will 
need to stay, or even increase, most growth should 
take place in higher value added sectors of eco-
nomic activity. 

Redirection of trade – the OECD markets face satu-
ration for many products and services, but higher 
availability of such goods in other markets would 
meet an unsatisfied demand.  By 2015 about 90% 
of global economic trade will take place outside of 
the EU. Economic recovery will therefore need to be 
consolidated by stronger links with the new global 
growth centers. Redirection of trade may take place 
in two dimensions:

• Exporting outside of the Black Sea region, to the 
rapid growing countries and regions of South-
East Asia and Africa; and

• Taking advantage of the high potential for intra-
regional trade and investment.

Reduction of poverty and income inequality –  
higher incomes and lower inequality impact on 
growth because this would mean higher demand for 
the domestic markets of BSTDB member states. High 
and rising levels of income inequality lower the pov-
erty reduction impact of a given rate of growth and 
can reduce the political stability and social cohe-
sion needed for sustainable growth. Limited social 
protection reduces the pace of growth. Inequality 
of wealth and opportunity hinders the ability of the 
poor and disadvantaged to participate in and con-
tribute to growth. The IMF has found that growth 
is faster and over longer periods of time when in-
equality is lower, irrespective of the actual level of 
income. There is therefore a need for a mix of poli-
cies that addresses both growth and distributional 
objectives.
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Structural Reforms Key to 
a Future of Hope
In all member countries there are outstanding issues 
related to the pension system, health care system, 
the tax system, labor and product markets. There is 
an increasing risk of poverty and social exclusion 
for a growing share of the population. 

Structural reforms are needed to address rising in-
equality and the social costs of the crisis, particu-
larly in countries with high structural and youth un-
employment. Adopting and implementing, mutually 
supportive and effect enhancing employment and 
education policies would reinforce overall devel-
opment objectives, including economic growth and 
social equity. Well-targeted and properly designed 
structural reforms can deliver results fast and effi-
ciently, by exploiting synergies among complemen-
tary policies. 

The cost of doing business affects location/reloca-
tion/investment decision of firms and thus job crea-
tion in manufacturing industries. Member States 
need to devise and implement reforms aiming to en-
sure predictable and stable legislation, and in par-
ticular to implement a stable, simple to understand, 
easy to administer fiscal code, with a limited number 
of taxes. Trade and investment liberalization is a ma-
jor structural reform, creating new opportunities for 
innovation and stronger productivity growth. Elimi-
nating barriers to establishing new businesses, lib-
eralizing closed professions, reducing bureaucracy, 
and providing a level playing field for all domestic 
and foreign, including regional, entrepreneurs and 
businesses would provide an impetus to economic 
activity. 

Addressing this issue not only improves well-being, 
it can also restore competitiveness and increase 
productivity. Some countries are already reaping the 
benefits of structural reforms implemented either 
prior to, or in the early stages of, the crisis.
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BSTDB in the Black Sea Region
PORTFOLIO 
DESCRIPTION 
Since the beginning of operations in June 1999, 
the Bank has approved 257 operations amounting 
to about EUR 2.74 billion. Throughout this period, 
there were 220 signed operations for a total signing 
amount of EUR 2.22 billion. A total of 173 operations 
for about EUR 1.67 billion were repaid. At end-2012, 
there were 100 operations in the active outstanding 
portfolio for EUR 785.9 million, a 9.1% increase from 
the end of 2011. At end-2012, there were 4 problem 
loans, duly provisioned, representing 7.99% of the 
value of the outstanding total portfolio. 

Evolution of Portfolio of Operations 1999–2012

Source: BSTDB

EUR million
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Signed Active Operations by Country

Source: BSTDB

The structure of the Bank’s active8 portfolio of signed 
and outstanding operations by country and by sec-
tor is as follows:

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

TAV EGE Airport 
Financing (Turkey)
The Bank was one of the leading arrangers man-
dated by TAV Airports Holding to provide a project 
finance facility to TAV Ege for the construction of the 
domestic terminal and the renovation and moderni-
zation of the international terminal of Izmir Airport 
in Turkey. The EUR 40 million loan with a maturity of 
16 years is part of a EUR 250 million long-term debt 
facility put together by the BSTDB, the European 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), 
and commercial banks: Denizbank, Unicredit, and 
Siemens Bank.

The project involves demolishing the existing do-
mestic terminal, designing and building a new 
domestic terminal, renovation of the international 

terminal, and operation and maintenance of Izmir 
airport in accordance with international standards, 
under a lease contract until 2032. 

There are direct benefits expected from the invest-
ment of EUR 444.5 million to construct the new ter-
minal and afterwards from the airport operation by 
TAV over the leasing period. An improved airport 
infrastructure is expected to have also indirect posi-
tive effects via the broader economic growth it fa-
cilitates in the region where it is located. Given the 
importance of tourism in Izmir region, these benefits 
are due to be even higher, since quality airport in-
frastructure is critical to fostering tourism growth 
over the long term.

TAV Airports, the owner of the special-purpose com-
pany TAV Ege, is one of the world’s largest airport 
concession companies with operations at twelve air-
ports in six countries. The company, together with its 
subsidiaries, provided services to about 575 thou-
sand flights and 72 million passengers in 2012.

BSTDB Amount EUR 40 million 

Total operation cost EUR 444.5 million

Type of financing Project finance

Maturity 16 years

8 The active operations in the Bank’s portfolio are those currently in any of the phases, from Board approval to full repayment  
(approved, signed, disbursed, and in repayment).
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Telecommunications
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Signed Active Operations by Sector 

Source: BSTDB

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

Olympus S.A. Corporate 
Loan (Romania)
A EUR 30 million corporate loan was provided in 
2012 by the Bank to Olympus Romania, part of TYRAS 
Group (Greece). The seven-year loan financed com-
pany’s investment program in the new dairy plant 
in Braşov. The plant construction is part of Olympus 
Romania overall investment plan of EUR 55 million 
including an initial self-funded investment. 

The BSTDB loan aims to support company’s ambi-
tious investment program, enabling Olympus Ro-
mania to substantially increase its efficiency and 
competitiveness and helping it comply with high 
environmental and quality standards for its milk, 
yogurt, cheese, and juices produced for the Roma-
nian market. It will also support company’s exports 
to international markets, including to Bulgaria and 
Greece. 

The loan reflects the dual mandate of the BSTDB as a 
regional development institution to support the eco-
nomic development of and the regional cooperation 
among the BSTDB Member Countries. It is expect-
ed to have a positive development impact through 
modernization and export capacity building and to 
promote regional trade and investment.  

BSTDB Amount EUR 30 million

Total operation cost EUR 55 million

Type of financing Corporate loan

Maturity 7 years
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Outstanding Active Operations by Country

As of end-2012 the outstanding operations of the 
Bank (cumulative disbursements less repayments 
for active operations) represented EUR 785.9 mil-

lion, distributed by country as depicted in the fol-
lowing graph:

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

Glass Container Prim 
(Moldova)
The BSTDB provided a USD 3 million long-term loan 
to Glass Container Prim for the financing of a new 
glass packaging plant in Chisinau, Moldova. The 
modern manufacturing facility has an annual pro-
duction capacity of up to 130 million high quality 
glass containers, bottles, and jars. Glass Container 
Prim has the flexibility to provide standard and ex-
clusive products to its domestic and export clients.

The BSTDB loan was extended in parallel with a USD 
10 million loan provided by the International Fi-
nance Corporation (IFC), following combined USD 
16.6 million debt-equity swaps by the company’s 
main shareholders. The BSTDB and IFC parallel 

loans were agreed in the framework of the Master 
Cooperation Agreement signed between the IFC 
and BSTDB in 2010.

The loan is part of the Bank’s response to the de-
velopment needs of the economy of Moldova, as 
reflected in BSTDB Country Strategy for Moldova, 
which emphasizes the need to finance projects di-
rected at supporting local private businesses, with 
a particular focus on companies involved in food-
processing and packaging sector.

The operation is expected to have a positive devel-
opment impact through transfer of modern tech-
nology and know-how to Moldova, employment 
creation, and support for the development of the 
agri-business sector of the country. The project is 
also expected to contribute to the further expansion 
of Moldova’s trade with other BSTDB member states 
– Bulgaria, Romania, Russia, Turkey, and Ukraine. 

BSTDB Amount USD 3 million 

Total operation cost USD 32.3 million

Type of financing Project finance 

Maturity 8 years

Source: BSTDB
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Source: BSTDB

Outstanding Active 
Operations by Sector
By sector, as at end-2012 there were outstanding 
59 operations through financial institutions for EUR 
351.3 million, 10 operations in energy for EUR 92.4 
million, 8 operations in manufacturing for EUR 111.8 
million, 8 operations in transport and public utili-
ties for EUR 110.8 million, 3 operations in telecom-
munications for EUR 24.2 million, 4 operations in 

construction for EUR 30.4 million, 5 operations in 
services and real estate for EUR 59.8 million, and 2 
operations in the retail trade for EUR 4.5 million.

The portfolio structure by sector shows good diver-
sification. The number of operations in sectors with 
high development impact has increased. A large 
share of total portfolio in the financial sector is rep-
resented by trade finance and SME credit lines ex-
tended through financial intermediaries.

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

BankPozitif SME Credit 
Line (Turkey)
BSTDB made available a EUR 20 million medium 
term senior loan to BankPozitif in Turkey for financ-
ing specific projects for job creation, modernization, 
capacity expansion, diversification of products and 
services, as well as working capital requirements of 
small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in the 
country. 

BSTDB gives strong emphasis to financing SMEs 
via financial intermediaries, considering that SME  

development is crucial for developing a vibrant pri-
vate economy and for employment. 

Established in 1999 as a non-deposit taking credit 
and development bank, BankPozitif provides bou-
tique corporate banking services and technology-
based retail lending products to its customers.

BSTDB Amount EUR 20 million

Type of financing Credit line for SME 
finance 

Maturity 5 years
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Portfolio Developments 
During 2012
In 2012, the Board of Directors approved 16 new op-
erations for a total of EUR 161.2 million. This was the 
result of business development effort, which result-
ed in the signing of 15 new operations for a total of 
EUR 168 million. At end 2012, the Bank had a total of 
98 active borrowers.

During 2012, the Bank reviewed 89 business propos-
als, which went through different phases of the op-
erations’ cycle. Of these, 16 went through the entire 
operations cycle and got Board approval, along with 
other 22 operations which were identified and went 
through various phases of the operations cycle in 
2012. 17 operations continued the appraisal process. 

In terms of concentration, top 10 exposures repre-
sent 38.7% of total outstanding portfolio, and the 
next 10 largest exposures account for an additional 
22% of the total outstanding amount.

Exposure to Financial Institutions sector comprised 
44.7% of total outstanding portfolio. Exposure has 
historically been high due to the fact that BSTDB 
used financial institutions for a variety of purposes, 
including direct lending, SME and mortgage lines of 
credit, and trade finance. The other major sectoral 
exposure in the total outstanding portfolio was for 
manufacturing with 14.2%, transport and public util-
ities with 14.1%, and energy accounting for 11.8% 
of total outstanding amounts.

BSTDB Business Development in 2012

3 non-eligible 

16 Presented to  
Board of Directors

16 approved at  
Final Review

1 remained at Final 
Review stage 

15 operations signed
1 operation remained to 

be signed

18% of the total Business Proposals is Board Approved  
94% of the total Board approved operations is signed

89 Business Proposals received

38 presented for 
Eligibility Review

44 remained at 
Exploratory stage 

7 withdrawn from Pipeline

28 presented for  
Concept Clearance

7 remained at Eligibility 
Review stage

27 approved at Concept 
Clearance

1 postponed 

17 presented for  
Final Review

10 remained at Concept 
Clearance stage

 35 passed 
Eligibility Review

16 approved by the Board
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Co-Financing
The Bank values its cooperation with other financi-
ers in mobilizing investment in the Black Sea region 
and realizing cross-country operations. Such opera-
tions possess high shareholder value for the Bank 
and are therefore priority activities.

In 2012 the Bank co-financed the following opera-
tions:

1. Glass Container Prim in Moldova with EUR 2.27 
million for a total amount of EUR 22.2 million with 
IFC and equity holders. 

2. SEAF Caucasus Growth Fund Equity Investment 
in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia with EUR 
7.58 million for a total amount of EUR 30.3 million 
with EBRD, IFC, FMO, and others. 

3. TAV Izmir EGE Airport in Turkey with EUR 40 
million for a total amount of EUR 250 million with 
EBRD and commercial banks. 

The above co-financed projects represented 30% of 
the operations signed by BSTDB in 2012. The share 
of co-financed operations in the Bank’s total out-
standing portfolio exceeds 43%.

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

SEAF Caucasus Growth 
Fund Equity Investment 
(Armenia, Azerbaijan, 
Georgia)
In March 2012, BSTDB committed USD 10 million to 
the Small Enterprise Assistance Funds (SEAF) Cau-
casus Growth Fund. The SEAF Caucasus Fund will fa-
cilitate the access to affordable capital for competi-
tive private businesses in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and 
Georgia and will foster good business practices and 
know-how transfer.

In establishing the SEAF Caucasus Fund, the Bank 
has partnered with the International Finance Corpo-
ration (IFC), the European Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (EBRD), and the Netherlands De-
velopment Bank (FMO). 

BSTDB and its partner international financial institu-
tions committed at this stage USD 40 million to the 
fund, which has a target final size of USD 70 million. 

This is the first institutional-quality fund dedicated 
to providing debt and equity capital to small and 
medium enterprises in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and 
Georgia.

Through their collaboration, the international finan-
cial institutions are supporting private equity invest-
ments in the small and medium enterprises segment, 
which is a backbone of the Caucasus economies and 
plays a key role in employment creation. 

The Fund will invest across a range of industries, 
with particular focus on consumer and business ser-
vices, agribusiness, distribution, energy, and retail, 
which remain underserved by other capital provid-
ers. 

BSTDB Amount USD 10 million

Total operation cost USD 40 million 
(current Fund size)

Type of financing Equity participation 

Maturity 10 years
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Special Funds
The Bank administers a special fund for technical as-
sistance established in July 2001 by a Contribution 
Agreement between the Government of the Hellenic 
Republic and the BSTDB (the “Hellenic Fund”). The 
fund was set up with an initial amount of EUR 800,000 
and was replenished with EUR 500,000 in 2003. The 
Hellenic Fund is tied to consulting companies based 
in Greece. However, up to 25% of an assignment cost 
may be allocated to consultants who are nationals 
of the Bank’s other Member Countries. Altogether, 
the Hellenic Fund has disbursed since its inception 
around EUR 1,100,000 for 27 technical assistance 
assignments. These consultancy services were for 
companies in various sectors including manufactur-
ing, telecoms, oil & gas, transportation, agribusiness, 
renewable energy, tourism, real estate, and banking. 
These funds were used for consultancy services in 
nine BSTDB member states - Albania, Armenia, Bul-
garia, Georgia, Greece, Moldova, Romania, Russia, 
and Ukraine. In 2012, the Fund financed the prepa-
ration of the business plan and financial model for 
a manufacturing company in Armenia and the due 
diligence support for a real estate project in Greece. 

The total amount disbursed by the Fund in 2012 for 
these assignments was about EUR 55,000.

The Bank also administers a technical coopera-
tion special fund established in October 2008 with 
the Development Bank of Austria (the “Fund”). The 
OeEB contributed to the Fund an initial amount of 
EUR 500,000 provided by the Government of Aus-
tria as Official Development Assistance (ODA)9. The 
Fund is an untied facility offering financing for a 
wide range of technical assistance services related 
to project preparation and training needs of BSTDB 
clients. The Fund represents the first financial fa-
cility of this kind provided to the BSTDB by a non-
regional institution. It can be used for assignments 
in the BSTDB Member Countries that are eligible 
for receiving ODA. In 2012, the Fund co-financed 
a pre-feasibility study for the development of the 
Model Highway Initiative of the International Road 
Transport Union (IRU) in the Black Sea Region. The 
purpose of the assignment was to identify the main 
criteria of the Model Highway Initiative and the fi-
nancing mechanisms to enable its implementation. 
The study was co-financed with IRU and had a total 
cost of EUR 30,000.

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

Basisbank Trade Finance 
Credit Line (Georgia)
In April 2012 the Bank provided to Basisbank (Geor-
gia) a USD 4 million short-term revolving trade fi-
nance facility to finance those sub-borrowers of 
Basisbank Georgia who have export sales or who 
import goods from BSTDB Member Countries. 

The loan facility is aimed to improve the access to 
finance of Georgian exporting companies, includ-
ing small and medium enterprises, and to facilitate 
imports from other BSTDB Member Countries. It also 
promotes job creation and income generation in the 
country.

The facility is expected to have a positive impact for 
the institutional development of Basisbank, resulting 

into additional business growth, improved liquidity, 
and client service.

Established in 1993, Basisbank is a stably growing 
financial institution with a firm base. It has a strong 
reputation of stability and high quality products and 
services. It has succeeded to build a large branch 
network and provides a full package of banking ser-
vices for private and corporate customers. 

BSTDB Amount USD 4 million 

Type of financing Credit line for trade 
finance 

Maturity Revolving facility 
with maturity of 360 
days

9 Official Development Assistance (ODA) – grants or concessional resources provided by official agencies for the promotion of 
economic development and welfare of developing countries included in the List of the Development Assistance Committee of the 
OECD. All Member Countries of the Bank are currently eligible for ODA, except for Bulgaria, Greece, Romania, and Russia.
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Environment Protection
In 2012, the Bank continued to promote environmen-
tal soundness and sustainability principles in its 
Member States through the operations it financed. 
These comprised mainly Financial Intermediaries 
(FIs) transactions in which the Bank, among other is-
sues, focused on the capability of its Clients to man-
age environmental risks and impacts associated with 
their business activity in a manner that is compliant 
with the requirements of the BSTDB Environmental 
Policy. This included assessment of the FIs environ-
mental risk management policies and procedures, 
the level of integration into the overall portfolio 
management, portfolio analysis by environmental  

risk category, as well as the existing internal capac-
ity to manage the associated environmental risks 
and impacts. In such operations, the Bank delegated 
the function and responsibility for environmental 
assessment to its Client FIs, which were required to 
ensure that the sub-borrowers financed from BSTDB 
proceeds comply with its policy requirements, na-
tional regulations and standards in effect, including 
environmental, health and safety, relevant Interna-
tional Conventions, and the BSTDB Negative List.

On the institutional side, the Bank started develop-
ment of a new Environmental and Social Policy which 
will integrate environmental and social dimensions 
associated with its operations into the operation cycle.  

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

Locko Bank SME Finance 
Credit Line (Russia)
BSTDB extended a USD 25 million loan to Locko Bank 
for financing small and medium enterprises in the 
Russian Federation. The loan contributes to expand-
ing the SME lending program of one of the leading 
banks in the SME lending market in the country and 
represents an efficient instrument for BSTDB to sup-
port the development of small and medium sized 
businesses and entrepreneurs, who cannot be oth-
erwise accessed by BSTDB via direct lending activi-
ties.

Locko Bank is a financial institution with sound finan-
cial and business records and a developed branch 
network which can easily be reached by Russian 
SMEs. The loan supports the development of SMEs 
which form the core of the country’s economy and 
create additional employment opportunities for 
Russian citizens. 

BSTDB Amount USD 25 million 

Type of financing Credit line for SME 
finance 

Maturity 4 years
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Thus, in addition to the environmental issues, the 
Bank’s internal due diligence will also cover social 
aspects, such as labor standards and working con-
ditions, occupational health and safety, community 
health, safety and security, gender equality, cultural 
heritage, involuntary resettlement, and affordability 
of basic services. The new policy statement will be 
consistent with the best practices but at the same 
time tailored to meet the needs of BSTDB given its 
size, available resources, its unique mandate, and re-
gion of operation. The policy will be effective after 
Board of Directors, approval in 2013.

In terms of international cooperation, the Bank con-
tinued to work together with its counterparts in the 
area of development finance in the effort to further 
harmonize their environmental requirements. To 
emphasize its commitment to this process the Bank 
participates in a number of working groups such 
as Multilateral Financial Institutions (MFI) Working 
Group on Environment, European Development Fi-
nance Institutions Working Group on Environment 
and Social issues, as well as the Harmonization Ini-
tiative regarding development of core indicators.

Selected BSTDB Financings in 2012

Total Leasing SME 
Finance Credit Line 
(Moldova)
In June 2012, BSTDB signed a USD 5 million Loan to 
Total Leasing in Moldova for providing lease finance 
for SMEs. The facility aims to contribute to the growth 
of the SME business of one of the leading companies 
active in the leasing market in Moldova and to fa-
cilitate the access to finance for small and medium 
sized private businesses and entrepreneurs. 

ICS Total Leasing S.A. was registered in 2006, and 
its main activity is to provide financial lease of mo-
tor vehicles and equipment to individuals and legal 
entities in Moldova. The company has a well known 
brand name in the sector and represents an excel-
lent instrument for channeling medium term finance 
to small and medium sized businesses. 

BSTDB Amount USD 5 million 

Type of financing Credit line for SME 
leasing

Maturity 5 years
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Resources Management
Human Resources
Human resources are a key factor in the success of 
BSTDB, and the institution strives to maintain its sta-
tus as a competitive employer following best inter-
national standards and practices, applying merito-
cratic recruitment, and a remuneration system that 
strives to promote excellence and positive incen-
tives.  Towards meeting these objectives, the HR De-
partment has embarked on a systematic review and 
reform of HR policies and practices. 

Human Resource Policy 
Development
In 2012, BSTDB entered the final stage of the HR Re-
form implementation, in support of the institutional 
goals as set out in the BSTDB Strategy.  Revised poli-
cies were approved by the Board of Directors, cover-
ing the areas of recruitment and appointment, sepa-
ration from service, and learning and development.

A revised performance management policy was 
formulated and presented to the Board of Directors.  
The revised policy features increased objectivity, 
introduces performance-related rewards, and links 
individual performance to the performance of the 
institution through a system of key performance in-
dicators, which are cascaded down from the institu-
tional to the departmental level and are an integral 
part in the calculation of individual performance 
scores.

The examination of the BSTDB basic salary scale 
and the classification system started in 2012.  BSTDB 
considers possible modifications as a part of the for-
mulation of a comprehensive remuneration policy, 
which would increase the fairness and transparency 
of human resources management and the institu-
tion’s competitiveness in the labor market.

Staffing, Recruitment and 
Staff Development
BSTDB conducts recruitment on a wide geographi-
cal basis.  While ceteris paribus preference is given 
to citizens from the member countries, recruitment 
is competitive and based on the professional qualifi-
cations of the candidates.  At the end of 2012, BSTDB 
had a total of 105 employees, from 14 member and 
non-member countries.

BSTDB offers learning opportunities, addressing the 
development needs of its staff within the context of 
its organizational business requirements.  In 2012, 
the majority of these opportunities focused on the 
development of professional and technical skills.  
A revised policy on training, learning, and devel-
opment was adopted, establishing a clear link be-
tween the institution’s business needs and staff de-
velopment.  Staff learning and development is also 
directly linked to the annual staff performance cycle.

Staff Benefit System
BSTDB operates a market-oriented staff compensa-
tion and benefits system designed to match the em-
ployment standards of other International Financial 
Institutions.

The BSTDB medical, life, and temporary incapacity 
/ long-term disability insurance plan provides ad-
equate coverage emphasizing preventive medical 
care.  BSTDB also offers an optional post-separation 
medical coverage.

The BSTDB pension plan, launched in January 2003, 
is comprised of a fully funded defined benefit and 
a matched defined contribution component.  This 
combination offers the flexibility crucial for best 
meeting the needs of a multi-national work force.  In 
2012, an increase of the maximum contribution rate 
to the defined contribution component was realized.

Information Technologies
Technology is a strategic tool to help increase the 
operational efficiency and administrative transpar-
ency and capacity of BSTDB. In line with the Bank’s 
strategic objectives, the Information Technology 
(IT) Department strives to modernize and integrate 
the Bank’s systems and to align business processes 
to international best practice.

Operations Cycle
The first phase of the Operations Cycle automation 
within the SAP system was finalized during 2012.  
This includes structured data on business partner 
information, project registration, the various stages 
of an operation from concept clearance, final review, 
board approval and signing, loan administration, and 
supervision and monitoring.  The two modules used 
are the SAP Project System and the SAP Loans Ad-
ministration.  These two modules together with the 
Treasury Asset Liability Management module and  

Use of Resources
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the Consolidated Chart of Accounts form the inte-
grated SAP Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) sys-
tem. 

The SAP ERP system has appropriate in-built inter-
nal controls to secure data integrity and to allow for 
the automatic production of management and board 
reports, thus leading to improved management of 
operations.  It further enables informed and up-to-
date decision making at various organizational lev-
els.

System Automation and 
Integration
During 2012, the Bank integrated the SAP ERP sys-
tem with the Open Text’s Extended Enterprise 
Content Management (xECM) for SAP, allowing in-
formation to be shared across systems.  System in-
tegration provides flexibility in viewing and retriev-
ing information from either system, and provides 
quick information access and improved monitoring 
of operations.  

The second phase of the automation of the Opera-
tions Cycle within xECM was initiated in 2012.  This 
phase allows for the automation of processes related 
to the production and approval of documents in dif-
ferent stages of the Operations Cycle, and for the 
application of record management.

The xECM system was upgraded to the latest ver-
sion.  The Enterprise Scanning feature of the up-
graded xECM allows for the scanning of bulk pa-
per documents into digital ones by assigning bar 
codes and classifications.  Documents are stored in 
the xECM and the Archive Server for archiving, long 
term storage, and retrieval.

Registration of Business 
Inquiries
The Bank developed in-house a web-based applica-
tion using the xECM system and Website software 
for the registration and management of all written 
inquiries related to business proposals.  

This application provides the Banking Division with 
a tool to efficiently and effectively manage custom-
er inquiries and correspondence.  The application 
is linked with the SAP ERP system in case business 
proposals enter the operations pipeline.

Business Continuity 
In order to secure the Bank’s vital records and ensure 
seamless business continuity in the event of a disrup-
tive natural or man-made event, the IT Department,  

during 2012, implemented a secured vital records 
management system and initiated the implementa-
tion of an enhanced disaster recovery site.

A professional, secure, offsite storage facility was 
identified in early 2012.  All paper documents clas-
sified as Bank vital records were transferred to the 
offsite records storage facility by year end.

To enhance disaster recovery and business con-
tinuity, the Bank investigated a number of disaster 
recovery facilities within Europe and Asia. Follow-
ing pre-qualification and a competitive process, a 
disaster recovery and business continuity site that 
meets all technical and business requirements was 
selected. Currently, the IT Department is in the pro-
cess of finalizing the physical move to the new disas-
ter recovery and business continuity site.

The Bank’s virtual infrastructure was upgraded 
to the latest version for virtual servers and virtual 
desktops, allowing for higher degree of virtualiza-
tion and commission of virtual desktops.  In parallel, 
the firewall security software was updated, allowing 
enhanced security and providing users with secure 
remote access to Bank systems.

External Relations and 
Communications
The external relations and communications ac-
tivities aim to support the BSTDB’s strategy and 
achievement of corporate objectives by promot-
ing institutional cooperation and increased aware-
ness of the Bank in the region with governments, 
the international development community, partners, 
clients, and other stakeholders. To this end, during 
2012, the External Relations and Communications 
department strived to improve the Bank’s institu-
tional relations and profile through target groups, 
contacts with the media, event organizing activities, 
the corporate website and publications, and infor-
mation support to the Bank’s operations. 

Cooperation with Observer 
Institutions and Development 
Banks
During 2012, BSTDB strengthened institutional and 
business contacts with Observer Institutions and In-
ternational Financial Institutions (IFIs) and develop-
ment banks active in the Black Sea region with the 
view of sharing knowledge, attracting additional re-
sources for development projects in the region, and 
promoting synergies.  
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An updated BSTDB Observer Status policy was pre-
pared and approved by the Board of Governors. 
Policy updates help enhance the synergies with Ob-
server Institutions and provide greater opportunities 
to improve the efficiency and development impact 
of Bank operations through project co-financing, 
and information exchange on best practices, capi-
talizing on the Bank’s comparative advantages in the 
Black Sea Region. 

In 2012, the Bank signed long-term loan agreements 
with KfW (Germany) and the Development Bank of 
Austria (OeEB), aimed to support private sector de-
velopment and small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs) in BSTDB member countries.  Also, BSTDB 
cooperated with the International Finance Corpora-
tion of the World Bank Group (IFC) and the European 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) 
to establish equity funds supporting SME develop-
ment in the Caucasus, Ukraine, and Moldova. 

Multilateral Consultations
BSTDB has actively participated in multilateral con-
sultation mechanisms established by IFIs to facilitate 
knowledge sharing aimed at increasing develop-
mental effectiveness. In 2012, in Thessaloniki, BSTDB 
hosted annual meetings of the European Chief Com-
pliance Officers of European International Financial 
Institutions and of the Chief Legal Officers of sixteen 
leading IFIs, as well as an international seminar of 
the IFIs Evaluation Cooperation Group on post eval-
uation systems.The Bank has also contributed to the 
IFI meetings of the Heads of Procurement and the 
Independent Accountability Mechanisms, the DFI 
Corporate Governance Working Group, and to the 
meetings of IFI Board Secretaries.

A joint report “International Finance Institutions and 
Development through the Private Sector”, produced 
by 31 development institutions, was presented and 
discussed at the Business Forum hosted by the Bank 
on the occasion of its 14th Annual Meeting in Yerevan, 
Armenia.  The report highlighted the significant role 
IFIs play in catalyzing private sector involvement 
by encouraging entrepreneurial initiatives that help 
growth and job creation.

BSTDB maintained information exchange and 
knowledge sharing in the framework of the Interact 
Group of the Association of the European Develop-
ment Finance Institutions (EDFI). As a member of the 
Institute of International Finance (IIF), BSTDB con-
tributed to the global discussion and coordination 
efforts on the financial and public debt crisis. 

Institutional Support for 
Regional Cooperation 
BSTDB maintained its strategic support for regional 
cooperation, contributing to the joint efforts of the 
Organization of the Black Sea Economic Coopera-
tion (BSEC), Parliamentary Assembly of BSEC (PAB-
SEC), and other BSEC family institutions. Close inter-
action with the Governments, Parliaments, business 
community, and academia of the countries of the 
Black Sea region represented by the BSEC family 
institutions, remained an important priority for the 
Bank. The Bank has contributed to the preparation of 
an updated BSEC Economic Agenda for the Future 
and to other BSEC policy documents on promoting 
regional cooperation. BSTDB maintained its involve-
ment and support for BSEC project-oriented activi-
ties, including the BSEC initiatives of the Black Sea 
Ring Highway and Motorways of the Sea. 

The Bank has continued cooperation with the Inter-
national Road Transport Union (IRU) on the promo-
tion of its Model Highway Initiative (MHI) for the 
Black Sea region. In March 2012, in Thessaloniki, 
BSTDB co-organized and sponsored a Workshop 
on investment, financial, and technological issues 
of MHI, together with BSEC and IRU.  The pre-feasi-
bility study on the MHI pilot section of Baku-Batumi-
Trabzon was co-financed by BSTDB, using its Special 
Technical Assistance Fund provided by OeEB. 

The Bank identified and explored cooperation op-
portunities with the United Nations Development 
Program’s (UNDP) regional initiative for the Black 
Sea region to jointly promote trade and investment.   

During the year, the Bank supported regional busi-
ness events to promote the awareness of its develop-
ment role and operations in member countries. The 
BSTDB President, senior management, and staff con-
tributed to discussions held at regional fora, such as 
the Economic Summit of Serbia in Belgrade, and the 
South-East Europe Business Forum in Istanbul. 

Financial 
Management
Business Volume
The Bank’s total assets stood at EUR 983,583 thou-
sand at end 2012 against EUR 836,831 thousand at 
end 2011 – an increase of 17%. The Bank’s outstand-
ing loan and equity portfolios totaled EUR 785,904 
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thousand compared to EUR 720,391 thousand in 
the previous year. Funds committed but not yet dis-
bursed stood at EUR 106,859 thousand.

Revenues
Total income from lending activities increased to 
EUR 43,347 thousand for the year, from EUR 34,883 
thousand in 2011. Treasury activities in 2012 gen-
erated total income of EUR 3,393 thousand from its 
available for sale and held to maturity portfolios. 
Operating income for the year was EUR 34,881 thou-
sand compared to EUR 35,911 thousand in 2011. 
Although the Bank had a sharp revenue increase in 
core loan activities, the slight decrease in operating 
income derived from lower realized gains from the 
Bank’s equity investments in relation to the previous 
year.

Expenses
Interest and similar expense for the year was EUR 
14,964 thousand compared to EUR 12,110 thou-
sand in 2011. This increase was due principally to 
the higher borrowing amounts required to fund in-
creased lending activities.

Administrative expenses in 2012 including depre-
ciation, were EUR 15,997 thousand, an increase of 
only EUR 333 thousand over the previous year. Ad-
ministrative expenses include salaries, benefits, and 
other administrative costs.

Personnel expenses, to the amount of EUR 12,159 
thousand, showed an increase of EUR 1,292 thou-
sand from the previous year. Other administrative 
costs had a decrease from the previous year in to an 
amount of EUR 1,090 thousand.

Overall, administrative expenses were well with-
in the 2012 Budget, reflecting the Bank’s focus on 
budgetary discipline and effective cost controls.

Net Income
Income before impairment during the year was EUR 
18,884 thousand compared to EUR 20,247 thousand 
in 2011. Total impairment losses to an amount of EUR 
3,954 thousand were due to increased specific provi-
sion charges on operations, including an increased 
provisioning charge on debt investment securities 
held by the Bank.

The Bank posted net income of EUR 14,930 thousand 
for the year, an increase of 48% against the previous 
year.  The quality of the lending portfolio remained 

sound, experiencing only one additional impaired 
loan operation.

Capital Base
Initial Share Capital
The initial authorized share capital of the Bank was 
SDR 1 billion divided into one million shares hav-
ing a par value of SDR 1,000 each. Member States 
subscribed to all of the initial authorized share capi-
tal. Each of Armenia, Georgia, and Moldova volun-
tarily agreed to reduce its share from 2% to 1% in 
June 2004 leaving SDR 30 million unsubscribed. At 
the Board of Governors meeting in October 2008, it 
was decided that Azerbaijan would take up this 3% 
of unsubscribed shares. The additional subscription 
amount was fully paid in 2009.

New Share Capital
The Board of Governors decided in December 2007 
to approve an increase to the Bank’s authorized cap-
ital from SDR 1 billion to SDR 3 billion. They further 
approved SDR 1 billion increase in the capital to be 
subscribed by the existing Member States, thereby 
increasing subscribed capital to SDR 2 billion. An 
announcement that this additional SDR 1 billion was 
fully subscribed was made after the Board of Gov-
ernors meeting in October 2008. Georgia declined 
to take up its 1% allocation, and this was taken up 
by Romania. Upon completion of the subscription, 
Greece, Russia, and Turkey remained the largest 
shareholders of the Bank with 16.5% stake each, fol-
lowed by Romania with 14%, Bulgaria and Ukraine 
with 13.5% each, Azerbaijan with 5%, Albania with 
2%, Armenia and Moldova with 1% each, and Geor-
gia with 0.5% stake. In October 2011, Moldova re-
duced its portion of the subscribed capital from 1% 
to 0.5%, to which those shares were released to un-
allocated share capital.

The new subscribed capital will be paid according 
to the following schedule:

• Payment of the paid-in portion of the new sub-
scribed capital, equivalent to 10% of the sub-
scribed number of shares (totaling SDR 99 mil-
lion) in cash by the Member States in 2010.

• Payment of the paid-in portion of the new sub-
scribed capital, equivalent to 20% of the sub-
scribed number of shares (totaling SDR 198 
million), will be made by each Member State in 
eight equal successive annual installments be-
tween 2011 and 2018.
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• The remaining callable portion of the new sub-
scribed capital, equivalent to 70% of the shares 
(totaling SRD 693 million), represents a firm com-
mitment on the part of the Member States to pay 
such amount when due in conformity with the rel-
evant provisions of the Establishing Agreement.

As of 31 December 2012 the paid-in share capital 
was EUR 494.4 million.

The Board of Governors may also authorize addi-
tional subscriptions from the remaining SDR 1 bil-
lion of authorized capital in three instances:

• To satisfy demand for shares expressed by Mem-
ber States.

• If in conformity with the provisions of Article 3 
(Membership) of the Establishing Agreement, 
any BSEC Member State who is not yet a mem-
ber of the Bank (currently Serbia) wishes to sub-
scribe for BSTDB shares.

• If in conformity with the provisions of Article 3 
(Membership) of the Establishing Agreement, a 
multilateral bank or financial institution express-
es a desire to become a member.

Gearing Ratio
The Bank’s institutional gearing ratio, the statutory 
limit on the total amount of ordinary operations (out-
standing loans, equity investments, and guarantees) 
is 150% of the Bank’s unimpaired subscribed capi-
tal, reserves, and surpluses, which at the end of 2012 
stood at about EUR 3.7 billion.

The operational gearing ratio was set at 100% of the 
Bank’s unimpaired paid-up capital, reserves, and 
surpluses and the usable portion of callable capital, 
which limits the total amount of operations to ap-
proximately EUR 2.2 billion.

Provisioning
Provisions are recorded in two ways:

• General provisioning rate applied to the entire 
portfolio.

• Specific provisions applied against certain assets 
and determined following an impairment test, 
carried out if evidence of credit deterioration is 
found during regular monitoring.

Starting with 2011, BSTDB has moved to a Basel II ap-
proach to include Loss Given Default and Discount 
Factors for security.

At the end of 2012, total provisions for loans stood 
at EUR 42,026 thousand, equivalent to 5.7% of the  

outstanding loan portfolio. The institutional target 
to be achieved for general provisions and reserves, 
over time, is set at 10% of total outstanding expo-
sures, less the gross value of non-performing opera-
tions.

Furthermore, total provisions for debt investment 
securities stood at EUR 15,070 thousand, equivalent 
to 7% of the investment securities portfolio that was 
held by the Bank.

Reserves and Surplus
Reserves represent the internal generation of capi-
tal through the retention of earnings. Pursuant to the 
Bank’s financial policies, reserves are the ultimate 
protection of the Bank’s share capital against im-
pairment resulting from credit losses, in excess of 
provisions, or losses due to market, operational, and 
compliance risks. The Bank targets a level of profit-
ability guided by the desire to build an appropri-
ate cushion of reserves against the risks inherent to 
its normal operations, and subsequently to grow its 
capital base consistent with its financial and growth 
objectives.

In addition to building up a cushion of reserves, the 
Bank also sets aside retained income to enable it to 
maintain the real value of its share capital funds, and 
increase its investment headroom through internally 
generated funds.

Market Risks
Market risk management is conducted within a 
framework of conservative risk limits and policy 
documents approved by the Board of Directors.

It is the policy of the Bank to take no significant in-
terest rate or foreign exchange exposure. Asset 
and liability maturities and interest rate tenors are 
matched wherever possible.

Operational Risks
The Bank, like all financial institutions, is exposed to 
operational risks, defined as the risk of loss result-
ing from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people, and systems, or from external events, which 
are risks other than those falling within the scope of 
credit and market risk. The definition includes legal 
risk but excludes strategic and reputational risk. 

Appropriate measures are taken to achieve a high 
level of operational risk awareness and to enhance 
the operational risk management system. The 
Bank adopts market best practices and methods to  
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manage and coordinate its operational risks. Key 
processes for the management of operational risk 
include, amongst others: (i) internal controls (e.g. 
the “four eyes principle”, proper segregation of du-
ties) within its offices and departments, (ii) the es-
tablishment of disaster recovery and business con-
tinuity plans that take into account different types of 
plausible scenarios to which the Bank may be vul-
nerable, (iii) the constant safe storage of the Bank’s 
Vital Records, (iv) the purchase of corporate and 
property insurance policies to confront potential 
losses which may occur as a result of various events 
and natural disasters, and (v) the approval process 
of New Products to identify and assess the opera-
tional risk related to each new product, activity, pro-
cess, and system.

The Bank utilizes the  Standardized Approach (SA) 
as issued by the Basel Committee to monitor opera-
tional risk incurred[1] and the adequacy of its opera-
tional risk-related capital charges (Reserves).

Should the Bank quantify the operational risk em-
bedded in its operations, it would, with the use of 
SA, amount to EUR 8.1 million for 2012 and EUR 7.4 
million for 2011, constituting a fraction of the Bank’s 
total reserves amount, which represents the ultimate 
protection of the Bank’s capital against impairment 
resulting from credit losses in excess of provisions, 
or losses due to market, operational, and compli-
ance risks. There is no general accepted methodol-
ogy for calculating risks associated with compliance 
and other “black swan” type of events. 

Based on the above quantified operational risk, it is 
deemed that the Reserves of the Bank are adequate 
to cover all potential losses arising from events of 
an operational risk nature, and because the Estab-
lishing Agreement requires the Bank to maintain re-
serves at a relatively high percentage of its portfo-
lio[2], there is no need, for operational risk purpose, 
to make supplementary allocations.

Short Term Liquidity
As indicated in the statement of cash flows, the Bank’s 
short term liquidity totaling EUR 200,727 thousand 
as of 31 December 2012 was invested in two types of 
money market instruments:

• Short-term deposits with institutions long term 
rated at a minimum of A2/A by either Moody’s or 
Standard & Poor’s credit rating agency.

• Euro commercial paper rated at a minimum short 
term A1/P1 by either Moody’s or Standard & 
Poor’s credit rating agency.

Investments are primarily denominated in EUR or 
USD currencies, and performance is monitored 
monthly against the Merrill Lynch 3 month Libid in-
dex.

The Banks liquidity ratio, calculated as liquid assets 
over 12 months net cash requirements including 
signed undisbursed commitments, stood at 1278% 
on 31 December 2012.

Borrowings Utilized
As of end 2012, the Bank had issued a four-year 
fixed rate bond for CHF 200,000 thousand and had 
swapped the proceeds, through the use of derivative 
instruments, into USD 209,534 thousand at a float-
ing rate. The Bank had also signed loan agreements 
equivalent to EUR 108,692 thousand and USD 72,000 
thousand. Outstanding Euro Commercial Paper issu-
ance totaled USD 51,000 thousand at year end. As 
the size of the Bank’s operations portfolio continue 
to increase, and taking into consideration its mini-
mum liquidity requirements, the Bank might access 
sources of long term funds in 2013.

At 31 December 2012 the Bank had a long term in-
vestment grade credit rating from Standard and 
Poor’s Investor Service of A and a short term rating 
of A1. The Bank also had a long term rating of A3 
and a short term rating of P2 from Moody’s Investor 
Service.

Risk Analysis
An independent financial analysis is performed for 
each of the Bank’s operations. Corporate entities 
are initially subject to an assessment of creditwor-
thiness based on historical financial statements. 
This is followed by cash flow modeling for the life 
of the proposed operation and stress testing of key 
assumptions. For financial institutions, risk analysis 
is based on quantitative methodology (i.e. capitali-
zation, asset quality, liquidity, and foreign exchange 
risk) supported by comparisons of key ratios to in-
dustry standards.

[1] International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards, a Revised Framework, June 2004

[2] No part of the net income or surplus of the Bank shall be distributed to Members by way of profit until the general reserves of the 
Bank shall have attained the level of ten (10%) percent of the subscribed capital including all paid, unpaid but payable, unpaid but 
callable capital. (Art. 36 – Allocation of Net Income).
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Risk Mitigation
The Bank will normally require its operations to 
benefit from some form of security or risk-sharing 
in order to mitigate the credit risks involved. When 
the Bank lends to either public or private sector bor-
rowers, it normally requires certain guarantees and, 
in all cases, ensures that the parties involved share 
risks in a reasonable manner.

Evaluation
The Bank conducts assessments of completed and 
current operations, programs, activities, and strat-
egies through rigorous systematic analyses. This 
evaluation process serves two key objectives: (i) ac-
countability – to reveal the results and impact of the 
Bank’s operations and (ii) learning – to derive les-
sons learned from past experience, maintain a cor-
porate memory, and enhance future performance.

Preferred Creditor Status
As an international financial institution, the Bank has 
preferred creditor status. This means that the Bank 
usually will:

• Not reschedule debt payments or participate in 
debt rescheduling agreements with respect to its 
loans to, or guaranteed by, its Member Countries 
of operations.

• Not reschedule its loans to private sector bor-
rower where the borrower’s inability or antici-
pated inability to service its debt is due to a gen-
eral foreign exchange shortage in the borrower’s 
country.

Corporate 
Governance
Management Structure
BSTDB is committed to maintaining effective corpo-
rate governance through a framework of responsi-
bilities and controls. Transparency and accountabil-
ity supported by clearly defined reporting systems 
enable maintenance of an appropriately controlled 
business environment.

BSTDB’s governing constitution is set out in the 
Agreement Establishing the Bank. This document 
requires that the institution be managed by a Board 

of Governors, a Board of Directors, a President, Vice 
Presidents, a Secretary General, and such officers 
and staff, as may be necessary.

Each of the Member States of the Bank is repre-
sented on the Board of Governors.  All powers of 
the Bank are vested in the Board of Governors. With 
certain exceptions, the Board of Governors has del-
egated the exercise of these powers to the Board of 
Directors, while still retaining overall authority.

The Board of Directors, chaired by the President 
of the Bank, is responsible for guiding the general 
operations of the Bank. Each of the Bank’s Member 
States appoints a Director and an Alternate Direc-
tor, with full powers to act for the Director when the 
Director is not present.

The Audit Committee is established by and reports 
directly to the Board of Directors. The composition 
of the Audit Committee is three Board of Director 
members, one being appointed as Chairman.

The President, as chief executive of the Bank, is its 
legal representative. In this capacity, and as Chair-
man of the Management Committee, he conducts 
the current business of the Bank under the direction 
of the Board of Directors. The President is appointed 
by the Board of Governors.

The Management Committee comprises of the Pres-
ident (as Chairman), three Vice Presidents, and the 
Secretary General. In the absence of the President, 
one of the Vice Presidents chairs the meetings of the 
Management Committee. The Vice Presidents and 
Secretary General are appointed by the Board of Di-
rectors on the recommendation of the President.

Compliance
The Compliance function of the Compliance and 
Operational Risk Management Office of the Bank as-
sists management in effectively managing the com-
pliance risks faced by the Bank. To this end, it iden-
tifies, assesses, advises on, monitors, and reports 
accordingly on the Bank’s compliance risk.

With regard to the financing operations, anti-fraud, 
corruption, money laundering, and terrorism financ-
ing due diligence is – among other types of due dili-
gence – integrated into the Bank’s normal approval 
of new business and into the monitoring of existing 
activity. The Bank screens all transactions to ensure 
that they do not represent such risks. The Head of the 
Compliance function advised the business groups, 
upon their request, inter alia, on the Customer Due 
Diligence process and integrity issues.

Within 2012, the Bank’s Anti-Fraud, Corruption, 
Money Laundering, and Terrorism Financing Policy 
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together with the Know-Your-Customer Procedures 
were revised, reflecting international and Interna-
tional Financial Institutions’ standards.

Reporting and Disclosure
BSTDB's corporate governance structure is sup-
ported by appropriate financial and management 
information reporting. Through its reports and dis-
closures, the Bank, in line with its policy of maintain-
ing industry best practice, follows the reporting con-
ventions of other international financial institutions. 
The Accounting Policies adopted by the Bank are in 
compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

With respect to external financial reporting, the 
Bank presents financial statements in its quarterly 
Summary Statements and in the Annual Report. Pur-
suant to Article 35 of the Establishing Agreement, 
these reports are transmitted to the Governments of 
the Member States (Annual Report only), members 
of the Board of Governors, and Directors and the 
BSEC Permanent International Secretary.

In its financial reporting, the Bank aims to provide 
appropriate information on risk and performance. 
Industry best practice guides the evolving disclo-
sure practice both in public financial reports and 
management information reporting.

Internal Audit
Internal Audit is an independent, objective, assur-
ance, and consulting activity that examines and 
evaluates the activities of the Bank as a service to 
management and the Board of Directors (primarily 
through its Audit Committee). The Audit Committee 
has the responsibility, inter alia, of satisfying itself 
that the internal audit process is adequate and effi-
cient through reviewing the policy, scope, work pro-
gram, and reporting relating to the Bank’s internal 
audit.

According to the Bank’s Internal Audit Charter, the 
internal Audit Department’s main objective is to help 
management and the Board of Directors discharge 
their responsibilities and accomplish the objectives 
of the Bank by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve effectiveness of 
risk management, control, and governance process-
es. The Internal Audit’s mission is to foster an envi-
ronment of continuous improvement in controls and 
risk awareness.

Enterprise Risk 
Management 
Recognizing the need for effective internal controls 
and acknowledging that Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment (ERM), including internal controls over finan-
cial reporting, is a fundamental approach for the 
management of an organization, the Bank has es-
tablished a functioning, consolidated, and on-going 
Enterprise Risk Management system. This system 
includes certification in the Annual Report as to the 
effectiveness of internal controls over external fi-
nancial reporting, using the standards and practices 
prescribed by the Committee of Sponsoring Or-
ganizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), 
Internal Control Framework, and Enterprise Risk 
Management. 

Upon the overall assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal controls over financial reporting, coordi-
nated by the Internal Audit Department and a Work-
ing Group with representatives of all the Divisions of 
the Bank, an annual certification statement is issued, 
signed by the President and the Vice President Fi-
nance and subject to review and an attestation of the 
Bank’s external auditors.

The external auditors review and offer their opinion 
on management’s assertion as to the effectiveness of 
internal controls over financial reporting.

External Auditors
The External Auditors are appointed by the Board of 
Governors upon the recommendation of the Board 
of Directors. They are qualified outside auditors of 
international reputation and appointed for a term of 
one year, renewable further on such terms and con-
ditions as approved by the Board of Directors.

The External Auditors’ services are limited only to 
audit related services but may be subject to certain 
exceptions that are in the interest of the Bank. The 
performances and independence of the External 
Auditors are assessed by the Audit Committee.

In addition, the External Auditors review and offer 
their opinion on management’s assertion as to the 
effectiveness of internal controls over financial re-
porting. This opinion is given as a separate report to 
the audit opinion. At the conclusion of their annual 
audit, the External Auditors prepare a management 
letter for the Board of Directors, which is reviewed in 
detail and discussed with the Audit Committee, set-
ting out the External Auditor’s views and manage-
ment’s response on the effectiveness and efficiency 
of internal controls and other matters.
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Responsibility for external financial reporting 
Management’s responsibility

Management’s report regarding the ef-
fectiveness of internal controls over ex-
ternal financial reporting

The management of the Black Sea Trade and De-
velopment Bank (“the Bank”) is responsible for the  
preparation, integrity, and fair presentation of its 
published financial statements and all other infor-
mation presented in this report. The financial state-
ments have been prepared in accordance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board. 

The financial statements have been audited by an 
independent accounting firm, which has been giv-
en unrestricted access to all financial records and 
related data, including minutes of all meetings of 
the Board of Directors and committees of the Board. 
Management believes that all representations made 
to the external auditors during their audit were valid 
and appropriate. The external auditors’ report ac-
companies the audited financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining effective internal controls over exter-
nal financial reporting for financial presentations in 
conformity with IFRS. The system of internal controls 
contains monitoring mechanisms, and actions are 
taken to correct deficiencies identified. Manage-
ment believes that internal controls for external fi-
nancial reporting, which are subject to scrutiny and 
testing by management and internal audit and are 
revised as considered necessary, support the integ-
rity and reliability of the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of 
any system of internal controls, including the possi-
bility of human error and the circumvention of over-
riding controls. Accordingly, even an effective in-
ternal controls system can provide only reasonable  

assurance with respect to financial statements. Fur-
thermore, the effectiveness of an internal controls 
system can change with circumstances. 

The Bank’s Board of Directors has appointed an Au-
dit Committee, which assists the Board in its respon-
sibility to ensure the soundness of the Bank’s ac-
counting practices and the effective implementation 
of the internal controls that management has estab-
lished relating to finance and accounting matters. 
The Audit Committee is comprised entirely of mem-
bers of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee 
meets periodically with management in order to re-
view and monitor the financial, accounting, and au-
diting procedures of the Bank and related financial 
reports. The external auditors and the internal audi-
tors regularly meet with the Audit Committee, with 
and without other members of management being 
present, to discuss the adequacy of internal controls 
over financial reporting and any other matters which 
they believe should be brought to the attention of 
the Audit Committee.

The Bank has assessed its internal controls over 
external financial reporting for 2012. The Bank’s 
assessment was based on the criteria for effective 
internal controls over financial reporting described 
in the “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” is-
sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations 
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based upon 
this assessment, management asserts that, at 31 De-
cember 2012, the Bank maintained effective internal 
controls over its financial reporting as contained in 
the Financial Statements for 2012. 

The Bank’s external auditors have provided an audit 
opinion on the fairness of the financial statements 
presented within this report. In addition, they have 
issued an attestation report on management’s as-
sessment of the Bank’s internal controls over finan-
cial reporting.

Internal Controls Over External 
Financial Reporting

Andrey Kondakov 
President

Black Sea Trade and Development Bank 
Thessaloniki 
26 April 2013

Valentina Siclovan 
Vice President Finance
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GOVERNORS OF THE  
BLACK SEA TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK

Report on the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting

We were engaged by the Board of Directors of the 
Black Sea Trade and Development Bank to report on 
the effectiveness of the Black Sea Trade and Devel-
opment Bank (“the Bank”) internal control over fi-
nancial reporting as of 31 December 2012 in the form 
of an independent reasonable assurance conclusion 
about whether the internal control over financial re-
porting is effective based on criteria established in 
“Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of 
the Treadway Commission (“the COSO criteria”).

Bank’s responsibilities

The Bank’s management is responsible for maintain-
ing effective internal controls over financial report-
ing and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting included in 
the accompanying management's report. 

Our responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Bank's internal control over financial reporting 
based on the evidence obtained. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000. That stand-
ard requires that we comply with ethical require-
ments, including independence requirements, and 
plan and perform our procedures to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the internal control 
over financial reporting is effective, in all material 
respects. 

The procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the effectiveness of internal control 
over financial reporting, whether due to fraud or er-
ror.

Our engagement also included obtaining an under-
standing of internal controls over financial reporting,  
evaluating the management's assessment and per-
forming such other procedures as we considered  

necessary in the circumstances. Reasonable assur-
ance is less than absolute assurance. 

A bank’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.

A bank's internal control over financial reporting in-
clude those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the bank; (2) pro-
vide reasonable assurance that the transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fi-
nancial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the bank are being made only in ac-
cordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the Bank; and (3) provide reasonable as-
surance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
bank's assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control 
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-
pliance with the policies and procedures may dete-
riorate.

Conclusion

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
conclusion.

In our opinion, Black Sea Trade and Development 
Bank maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting, as of 31 De-
cember 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

Independent Reasonable Assurance 

26 April 2013

KPMG Certified Auditors A.E. 
Athens, Greece
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INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Presented in thousands of EUR Note 2012 2011

Interest income 7 45,699 39,706

Interest expense 8 (14,964) (12,110)

Net interest income 30,735 27,596

Net fees and commissions
Dividend income
Net profit on sale of equity investments
Net gains from available-for-sale equity investments
Net (losses) from debt investment securities
Net (loss) income on foreign exchange
Other (expense) income

9

16

1,041
0

19
3,350
(245)

(1)
(18)

433
1,250

25
4,711

(18)
1,033

881

Operating income 34,881 35,911

Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization

10,26
10

19,20

12,159
3,309

529

10,867
4,399

398

Income before impairment 18,884 20,247

Impairment losses (gains) on loans
Impairment losses on equity investments
Impairment losses on guarantees
Impairment losses on debt investment securities

11

22
12

3,051
0
4

899

(4,591)
608

0
14,171

Net income for the year 14,930 10,059

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Presented in thousands of EUR Note 2012 2011

Net income for the year 14,930 10,059

Other comprehensive income:
 Net change in fair value reserve (available-for-sale
  financial assets)
 Exchange rate difference on conversion

24 2,068
0

2,761
(200)

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,998 12,620

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2012

Presented in thousands of EUR Note 2012 2011

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 25 18,227 11,888

Debt investment securities:

 Available-for-sale 12,13 17,963 26,528

 Held-to-maturity 13,25 182,500 114,321

Derivative financial instruments – assets 14 11,517 0

 Loans 15,17 742,614 688,218

 Less: deferred income 15 (6,694) (6,913)

 Less: impairment losses 11 (42,026) (39,843)

Loans net of impairment 693,894 641,462

Equity investments available-for-sale 16,17 43,290 31,565

Other assets 18 14,677 9,588

Property and equipment 19 699 555

Intangible assets 20 816 924

Total Assets 983,583 836,831

Liabilities

Borrowings 21 373,355 268,084

Derivatives financial instruments – liabilities 14 0 8,746

Payables and accrued interest 22 9,105 3,051

Total liabilities 382,460 279,881

Members’ Equity

Authorised share capital 23 3,494,085 3,547,897

 Less: unallocated share capital 23 (1,177,397) (1,198,597)

Subscribed share capital 23 2,316,688 2,349,300

 Less: callable share capital 23 (1,623,876) (1,653,115)

 Less: payable share capital 23 (198,094) (228,767)

 Cumulative translation adjustment 23 (337) (216)

 Advance against future call 23 11 15

Paid-in share capital 494,392 467,217

Reserves 24 44,206 40,103

Retained earnings 62,525 49,630

Total members’ equity 601,123 556,950

Total Liabilities and Members’ Equity 983,583 836,831

Off-balance-sheet items

 Commitments 17 106,859 171,967

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ 
EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Share capital

Presented in thousands EUR Subscribed Callable Payable Reserves
Retained 
earnings

Total

At 31 December 2010 2,324,580 (1,627,206) (268,422) 30,996 46,117 506,065

Total comprehensive income
 Net income for the year
 Other comprehensive
 Income:
  Fair value reserve
  (available-for-sale
  financial assets)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,761

9,859

0

9,859

2,761

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 2,761 9,859 12,620

Transactions with owners, 
recorded directly in equity
 Members’ contributions:
  Paid-in share capital
 Cumulative translation
  adjustment
 Advance against future call
 General reserve

0

24,720
0
0

0

(25,909)
0
0

38,496

973
(15)

0

0

0
0

6,346

0

0
0

(6,346)

38,496

(216)
(15)

0

Total contributions by owners 24,720 (25,909) 39,454 6,346 (6,346) 38,265

At 31 December 2011 2,349,300 (1,653,115) (228,968) 40,103 49,630 556,950

Total comprehensive income
 Net income for the year
 Other comprehensive
 Income:
  Fair value reserve
  (available-for-sale
  financial assets)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,068

14,930

0

14,930

2,068

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 2,068 14,930 16,998

Transactions with owners, 
recorded directly in equity
 Members’ contributions:
  Paid-in share capital
 Cumulative translation
  adjustment
 Advance against future call
 General reserve

0

(32,612)
0
0

0

29,239
0
0

27,300

3,252
(4)

0

0

0
0

2,035

0

0
0

(2,035)

27,300

(121)
(4)

0

Total contributions by owners (32,612) 29,239 30,548 2,035 (2,035) 27,175

At 31 December 2012 2,316,688 (1,623,876) (198,420) 44,206 62,525 601,123

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Presented in thousands of EUR Note 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income for the year 14,930 10,059

Adjustment for:
 Impairment losses
 Depreciation and amortization
 Interest income
 Interest expense
 Realized gains on equity investments
 Foreign exchange adjustment on provisions
 Exchange rate difference on conversion

3,954
529

(7,703)
4,258

(3,369)
(877)

0

10,188
398

(7,258)
1,167

(4,740)
(9,670)
(1,041)

Operating income before changes in operating assets 11,722 (897)

Changes in:
 Derivative financial instruments
 Other assets
 Accounts payable
 Deferred income
 Fair value movements

(11,693)
(4,644)

2,959
(219)
1,469

8,544
(1,215)

210
608

(11,410)

Cash generated from operations
 Proceeds from repayment of loans     
 Proceeds from repayment of equity investments
 Proceeds from sale of equity investments
 Funds advanced for loans
 Funds advanced for equity investments
 Foreign exchange adjustments
Interest income received
Interest expense paid

(406)
153,449

962
19

(215,269)
(9,184)
(1,712)

7,258
(1,167)

(4,160)
190,062

0
25

(214,132)
(13,743)

3,290
6,851

(1,905)

Net cash from / (used in) operating activities  (66,050) (33,712)

Cash flows from investing activities
 Proceeds from available-for-sale investment securities
 Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities
 Purchase of property, software, and equipment

 
23,811

(15,245)
(565)

34,312
(3,894)

(832)

Net cash from / (used in) investing activities 8,001 29,586

Cash flows from financing activities
 Payments received from share capital
 Decrease in advance against future call

 
27,300

(4)
38,496

(15)

Paid-in share capital received  27,296 38,481

 Proceeds from borrowings
 Repayments of borrowings

 390,795
(285,524)

86,572
(116,742)

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 132,567 8,311

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 74,518 4,185

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 126,209 122,024

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 25 200,727 126,209

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Establishment Of The Bank
Agreement Establishing the Bank
The Black Sea Trade and Development Bank (“Bank”), whose headquarters is located at 1 Komninon Street, 
Thessaloniki, in the Hellenic Republic, was established as an international financial organization under the 
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 30 June 1994 (“Establishing Agreement”). In accordance with Article 
61 of the Establishing Agreement, following establishment of the Bank the Establishing Agreement entered 
into force on 24 January 1997. The Bank commenced operations on 1 June 1999.

The purpose of the Bank is to accelerate development and promote cooperation among its shareholder coun-
tries. As a regional development institution it is well placed to mobilize financial resources and to improve 
access to financing for businesses in the whole region as well as for those active only in its individual Member 
Countries. The Bank offers project and trade financing facilities, equity participations, and guarantees. Bank 
financing of projects and programs is available directly or in cooperation with other national and international 
development institutions. The Bank may also, where appropriate, provide technical assistance to potential 
clients.

As at 31 December 2012 the Bank's shareholders comprised 11 countries: Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bul-
garia, Georgia, Greece, Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Turkey, and Ukraine.

Headquarters Agreement
The status, privileges, and immunities of the Bank and persons connected therewith in the Hellenic Republic 
are defined in the Headquarters Agreement between the Government of the Hellenic Republic and the Bank 
("Headquarters Agreement”) signed on 22 October 1998.

2. Basis Of Preparation Of Financial Statements
Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as published by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements 
for 2012 were submitted by the Management Committee to the Board of Directors (“BoD”) for approval on 
26 April 2013, and were approved on that date.  Pursuant to Article 23 of the Establishing Agreement, these 
financial statements shall be subject to approval by the Board of Governors (“BoG”) in their Annual Meeting 
to be held on 23 June 2013.

Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for those financial assets that 
have been measured at fair value. In addition, financial assets and financial liabilities subject to amortized cost 
measurement and which form part of a qualifying hedge relationship have been accounted for in accordance 
with hedge accounting treatment (see: “Derivatives” under this section). The Bank has not adopted any IFRS 
before their effective dates.

Functional and Presentation Currency
The Bank’s functional currency is the Euro (“EUR”) as defined by the European Central Bank (“ECB”). The 
Euro is most representative of the Bank’s operations and environment as a significant percentage of the Bank’s 
lending operations are in Euro, and the administrative expenses and capital expenditures are primarily de-
nominated and settled in this currency. The Bank’s presentation currency is the EUR.

In accordance with Article 4 of the Establishing Agreement, the Bank denominates its authorized share capital 
in the Special Drawing Right (“SDR”) as defined by the International Monetary Fund (“IMF”). 
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The value of the SDR is based on the weighted average of the values of a basket of major international curren-
cies. Share capital which is paid is converted into the Bank’s functional currency.

The Board of Governors of the Bank has adopted unanimously an amendment to the Establishing Agree-
ment, which upon effectiveness will explicitly allow the BoG to change the unit of account of the Bank and 
re-denominate all authorized capital. The BoG has already determined that upon such effectiveness the unit 
of account of the Bank shall be the EUR, and all its authorized capital shall be denominated in EUR. Ten of the 
eleven Member States of the Bank have completed their internal juridical requirements for effectiveness, and 
the last remaining Member State has informed the Bank that it expects to do so within 2013.

Judgments and Assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and li-
abilities, income, and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimations uncertainty and critical judgments in applying account-
ing policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are 
included in Note 4.

3. Significant Accounting Policies
Summaries of the Bank’s significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial state-
ments are presented in this section. These policies have been consistently applied to all the financial periods 
being presented, unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign Currencies
Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded in EUR by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the EUR and the foreign currency at the rate prevailing on the date of transaction. 
Exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities at the end-of-year 
exchange rates are recorded in the income statement.

The Bank uses the official exchange rates published for the EUR by the ECB, and uses the official exchange 
rate published for the SDR by the IMF for share capital installment obligations. Exchange rates used by the 
Bank at the financial position date were as follows.

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

1 EUR

=
=
=
=
=

United States dollar
Pound sterling
Azerbaijan manat
Romanian lei
Special drawing right

1.31940
0.81610
1.03640

-
0.85782

1.29390
0.83530
1.01739
4.32330
0.84265

Recognition and Derecognition of Financial Instruments
The Bank recognizes a financial asset or financial liability in its statement of financial position when, and only 
when, it becomes a party to the contractual rights or obligations.

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset or a portion of financial asset when, and only when, it loses control of 
the contractual rights that comprise the financial asset or a portion of the financial asset. The Bank derecog-
nizes a financial liability when, and only when, a liability is extinguished, that is when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled, or expires. The evaluation of the transfer of risks and rewards of own-
ership precedes the evaluation of the transfer of control for derecognition transactions.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, placements 
with other financial institutions, and debt securities with original maturities of three months or less. These are 
highly liquid assets that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant risk 
in value.

Financial Assets
The Bank classifies financial assets in the following categories; loans and receivables, held-to-maturity invest-
ments, and available-for-sale financial assets. Their classification is determined at the time of initial recogni-
tion.

Held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets are recognized on a trade date basis, 
which is the date the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. All loans are recognized when cash is ad-
vanced to borrowers at settlement date.

The Bank did not reclassify any non-derivative financial assets out of the fair value through profit or loss cat-
egory in any particular circumstance. Nor did the Bank transfer any financial assets from the available-for-sale 
category to the loans and receivables category.

a) Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Third party expenses, such as legal fees, incurred in securing a loan, are treated as 
part of the cost of the transaction. Subsequently, loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est rate method less any provision for impairment or uncollectability. All revenues generated are reported in 
income.

b) Held-to-Maturity

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates are classified as held-to-matu-
rity when the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These financial assets are meas-
ured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment in value. Amortized cost 
is computed as the amount initially recognized including the premium or discount that may arise on the date 
of acquisition, as well as transaction costs. Interest arising from these investments is reported in income.

c) Available-for-Sale

Financial assets such as equity investments or bonds classified as available-for-sale are intended to be held 
for an indefinite period of time, and may or may not be sold in the future. After initial recognition at cost, these 
financial assets are measured at fair value. The fair value of the available for sale securities that are traded in 
organized financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices. For those where there is 
no active market, the fair value is determined using accepted valuation techniques.

The unrealized gains and losses that arise from fluctuations in fair value are recognized as a separate com-
ponent of equity until the financial asset is sold or derecognized for any other reason or until the investment 
is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is in-
cluded in income. Foreign exchange gains or losses and any income accrued by using the effective interest 
rate method, for these assets, are recognized directly in income. Dividends received are included in income.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities include borrowings and other liabilities.

a) Borrowings

Borrowing transactions are recognized in the statement of financial position at the time the funds are trans-
ferred to the Bank. They are initially stated at cost, which comprises the fair value of the funds transferred, 
less any transaction costs. In instances where the Bank uses derivative instruments to hedge the fair value of 
borrowing transactions, such borrowings are subsequently carried in the statement of financial position at 
fair value where the amortized cost value is adjusted to fair value by the hedged risks, with any changes in 
value recognized in income. Relevant interest expenses are reported in income using the effective interest 
rate method.

b) Other Liabilities

All other liabilities that are not derivatives or designated at fair value through profit or loss are recorded at 
amortized cost. The amounts include accrued finance charges on borrowings and other accounts payable.

Netting of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The netting off of assets and liabilities in the financial statements is permitted if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivatives
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative 
financial instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where pay-
ments are dependent upon movements in price in one or more underlying financial instruments, reference 
rates or indices.

Derivatives can include interest rate and cross currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts, inter-
est rate future contracts, and options on interest rates and foreign currencies. Such financial instruments are 
initially recognized in the statement of financial position at cost and are carried as assets when fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in fair value of derivatives are included in the 
income statement. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, to the extent publicly available, dis-
counted cash flows, and options pricing models as appropriate.

a) Hedge Accounting

In order to manage particular risks, the Bank applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet speci-
fied criteria to debt securities that are issued by the Bank. A valid hedge relationship exists when a specific 
relationship can be identified between two or more financial instruments in which the change in value of one 
instrument (the hedging instrument) is highly negatively correlated to the change in value of the other (the 
hedged item). The Bank only applies hedge accounting treatment to individually identified hedge relation-
ships on a one-to-one relationship.

To qualify for hedge accounting this correlation must be within a range of 80% to 125%, with any ineffective-
ness within these boundaries or those which do not qualify as such, recognized in the income statement as fair 
value movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges under “net gains or losses at fair value on hedging 
activities.”

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The Bank documents the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items upon initial recogni-
tion of the transaction. For cash flow hedges, the Bank also documents its assessment on an ongoing basis, of 
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are expected to be highly effective (on a pro-
spective basis) in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items and demonstrate that it was 
effective (on a retrospective basis), for the designated period in order to qualify for hedge accounting.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, the hedge relationship is discontinued prospectively. Any fair value adjustment 
is recognized immediately in the income statement.

i) Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of the derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges, and 
that prove to be highly effective in relation to hedged risk, are included in the income statement as fair 
value hedges under “net gains or losses at fair value on hedging activities,” along with the corresponding 
change in fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to that specific hedged risk.

ii) Cash flow hedge

For designated and qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the cumulative gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument is initially recognized directly in reserves under “cash flow hedges.” The ineffective 
portion, if any, of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized immediately in the income state-
ment. Therefore, the movement in the fair value of cash flow hedges is recognized in reserves unless it is 
ineffective where that portion is transferred to the income statement as indicated above.

Impairment
An impairment loss for the Bank is the amount by which an asset’s recorded carrying amount exceeds its ex-
pected recoverable amount.

a) Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost

For amounts due from loan and receivable portfolios, losses under guarantees, commitments, held-to-matu-
rity, and other investments carried at amortized cost, the Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually for those that are individually significant, or collectively for those that are not 
individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an indi-
vidually assessed asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

• Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest, 

• Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower, 

• Breach of loan covenants or conditions, 

• Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings, 

• Deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position, and 

• Deterioration in the value of collateral.
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If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, that the Bank will not be able to col-
lect all amounts due (principal and interest) according to original contractual terms, such assets are consid-
ered and classified as “non-performing.” The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of expected future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of such an asset is reduced to its estimated recover-
able amount through the use of an allowance for impairment account, and the amount of loss is recognized in 
income. Interest income continues to be accrued based on the original effective interest rate of the asset. The 
Bank ceases to accrue interest on those assets classified as non-performing for more than 90 days, or earlier 
when there is reasonable doubt as to actual collection, and for which the recoverable amount is determined 
primarily in reference to fair value of collateral.

An asset together with the associated allowance is written off when all or part of it is deemed uncollectible by 
liquidation, or all legal and other avenues for recover or settlement are exhausted, or in the case of debt for-
giveness. Write-offs are charged against previously established allowances and reduce the principal amount 
of an asset. Whenever an amount of the estimated impairment loss increases because of an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased by adjusting the 
allowance account. Recoveries of such assets written off in earlier periods are included in income.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate 
as determined under the contract. If an asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated fu-
ture cash flows of a collateralized asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for 
obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, assets are grouped on the basis of the Bank’s in-
ternal credit rating methodology that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, and 
geographical location. From 31 December 2011, the Bank adopted a new basis for the purposes of collec-
tive evaluation of impairment, which was approved by the Board of Directors. The Bank’s analysis, which was 
previously based on the banking systems in the BSEC countries, is currently based on the Global Emerging 
Markets (“GEMs”) data base. The GEMs risk database standardizes the data collection process of member 
International Financial Institutions. The standardization process used by the Bank was also reviewed inde-
pendently by Moody’s Analytics. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Impairment losses for guarantees are applied when the guarantees are effective and based on their utiliza-
tion. The methodology is consistent to that of loans, and such losses are included in “Other liabilities.”

If the amount of impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after a write-down, the release 
of the provision is credited to the provision for asset losses expense. Unwinding of the discount is treated as 
income, and remaining provision is then reassessed.

b) Available-for-Sale Financial Assets

At each financial position date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is impaired. For equity investments carried at fair value, a significant or prolong de-
cline in the fair value below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such 
evidence exists, the cumulative impairment loss, which is measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the current fair value, net of any impairment loss previously recognized in net income, is removed 
from reserves and included in income. Impairment losses, once recognized and included in income on these 
equity investments carried at cost, are not reversed.
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For debt securities the Bank assesses at each financial position date whether there is objective evidence of 
impairment. The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment 
loss include:  

• Downgrading of the issuer below minimum eligibility levels for Treasury exposures, 

• Issuer failure to pay amounts contracted under the security, 

• Covenant breaches, default events, and trigger level failures, 

• Deterioration of credit enhancement including diminution of collateral value, and 

• Legal proceedings such as bankruptcy, regulatory action, or similar.

If any such evidence exists, the cumulative impairment loss measured as the difference between the acquisi-
tion cost and the current fair value is removed from reserves and included in income. If in a subsequent period 
the impairment indications of such securities cease to exist, related to an event after the impairment loss was 
recognized, that loss is reversed through income.

c) Non Financial Assets

At each financial position date, the Bank reviews the carrying value of the non financial assets and assesses 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications exist, an analysis is performed to assess 
whether the book value of the specific assets can be recovered. The recoverable amount is the higher amount 
between the net value of sale (value of sale reduced by sale expenses) and of the value in use (as calculated 
from the net cash flows). If the carrying value of an intangible asset exceeds its recoverable value, then an 
impairment loss is recorded in income.

d) Renegotiated Loans

When necessary, the Bank seeks to restructure loans that may involve extending the payment arrangements 
and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer con-
sidered past due, but the impairment will remain for another two quarters to review the performance of the 
loan.

Risk Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future 
payments are likely to occur. These loans continue to be subject to an individual impairment assessment, cal-
culated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

Financial Guarantees
Issued financial guarantees are initially recognized at their fair value, being the premium (fee) received and 
subsequently measured at the higher of the unamortized balance of the related fees received and deferred, 
and the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the financial position date. The latter is recognized 
when it is both probable that the guarantee will require to be settled and that the settlement amount can be 
reliably estimated. Financial guarantees are recognized within other financial assets and other financial li-
abilities.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided so as to 
write off the cost of each asset to their residual values on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The annual depreciation rates applied were as follows:

• Expenditure on leasehold buildings and improvements are depreciated  
 over the remaining term of the lease 

• Transportation vehicles 20.0% 

• Furniture and office accessories 20.0% 

• Personal computers 33.3% 

• Office and telecommunication equipment 20.0%
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Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprise software expenditures and other intangible assets. These assets are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the best estimate of their useful lives, which is normally five years. Their carrying 
values are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable.

Taxation
In accordance with Article 52 of the Establishing Agreement, the Bank, its assets, property, income, and its 
operations and transactions are exempt from all taxation and all customs duties in Greece. The Bank is also 
exempt from any obligation for payment, withholding, or collection of any tax or duty. Also, no tax shall be 
levied on salaries or emoluments paid by the Bank to employees. These tax exemptions are enforced by the 
Headquarters Agreement of Article 12, and have been implemented by the Greek Government by virtue of 
the ratification of Law 2380/No.38/7.3.1996.

Provisions
The Bank raise non-risk management provisions for potential obligations and risks when the following cir-
cumstances exist (a) there is an existing legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, (b) for the 
obligation to be settled an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is possible, and (c) a reliable 
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Share Capital and Dividends
In accordance with Article 36 of the Establishing Agreement, the Board of Governors shall determine annually 
what part of net income or surplus of the Bank from operations shall be allocated to reserves, provided that no 
part of the net income or surplus of the Bank shall be distributed to members by way of profit until the general 
reserves of the Bank shall have attained the level of ten (10%) per cent of the subscribed capital including all 
paid, unpaid but payable, and unpaid but callable share capital.

Reserves and Retained Earnings
In accordance with the Establishing Agreement of the Bank, the general reserve is created from the profits of 
the Bank for meeting any unforeseeable risks or contingencies.

The revaluation reserve represents the accumulated change in fair value of available-for-sale investments of 
the Bank, which have not been impaired.

The retained earnings of the Bank is the accumulated undistributed and unallocated net incomes over the 
years.

Revenues and Expenses
Interest income and expense are recorded in income for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest rate method based on actual contractual terms, with the exception being those 
assets that are individually identified as impaired, for which interest is recognized through unwinding the 
discount arising from the present value calculations applied to the expected future cash flows. The effective 
interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (inflows and outflows) through the expected life 
of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the carrying amount of a financial asset 
or financial liability.
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In accordance with IAS 18, front-end fees and where applicable commitment fees pertaining to loans are 
amortized through income using the effective interest rate method over the life of the loans. This calculation 
however, does not include costs that any other party is directly responsible for as: taxes, notary fees, insurance, 
registration, etc. In the case of early repayment, cancellation, or acceleration, the outstanding deferred income 
from the related fees is recalculated taking into account the new maturity date. If the commitment expires 
without a loan being drawn down, the related fee is recognized as income on expiry.

Other commitment and guarantee fees and fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time 
are recognized as income on an accrual basis matching the period during which the commitment exists or 
the services are provided. Additionally, fees from negotiation, cancellation, arrangement, etc. are recognized 
on completion of the related transaction. Dividends are recognized when received. Administrative expenses 
are recorded on an accrual basis.

Staff Retirement and Termination Benefits
The Bank has established a pension plan, where the fund’s assets are held separately from the Bank’s own as-
sets, for all its permanent employees, consisting of three pillars:

• The first pillar is a defined benefit scheme financed entirely by the Bank. The Bank’s contributions are 
determined on the basis of actuarial valuations using the projected unit credit method, performed annu-
ally by qualified, independent actuaries. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense 
when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous reporting year 
exceed 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. 
These gains or losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees 
participating in the plan.

• The second pillar is a defined contribution scheme to which both the employee and the Bank contribute 
equally at a rate of 0–12% of basic salary. Each employee determines his/her contribution rate and the 
mode of investment of the contributions.

• The third pillar is a defined contribution scheme funded entirely by each employee, up to 40% of basic 
salary.

As an alternative, local staff are entitled to retirement benefits from the Greek State Social Insurance Fund 
(“IKA”), which is a defined contribution scheme.

Current service costs in respect of both the pension plan and IKA are recognized as an expense and included 
in “Personnel expenses.”

The Bank may offer termination benefits to employees that are terminated before the normal retirement age. 
These indemnities, including any related retirement benefits, are recognized in income as an expense in the 
same period which they are incurred.

Government Grants
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
all attaching conditions will be complied with. Grants relating to fixed asset expenditures are recognized in 
income on a straight-line basis over the same period as that applied for depreciation purposes. Those relat-
ing to administrative expenses are recognized in income matching with the expense incurred. The balance of 
grants received or receivable that has not been taken to income is carried in the statement of financial posi-
tion within “Other liabilities.”
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Operating Leases – the Bank as a Lessee
For the Bank, an operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Under such agreements, all the risks and 
benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor. The Bank has entered into this type of lease for 
its Headquarters building. Payments made under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease term. Any benefits received or that are receivable are also recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 
expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor, by way of penalty, is recognized as an expense in the 
period which the termination takes place.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretation of IASB
A number of new standards, amendments, and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these is expected 
to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Bank, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 
when it becomes mandatory for the Bank and could change the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. The Bank does not plan to adopt this or any other standard early, and the extent of the impact has not 
been determined.

For the 31 December 2012 financial statements the Bank has maintained the same policies as those stated in 
the latest annual financial statements.

New standards that are expected to have an effect on the Bank’s financial statements are:

a) IAS 1 (Amendment) “Presentation of Financial Statements”

The amendment requires entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income into two groups, 
based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future, and it is effective for annual peri-
ods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

b) IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

This standard deals with the classification and measurement of financial asset and liabilities and is effective 
on 1 January 2015.

c) IAS 19 (Amendment) “Employee Benefits”

This amendment makes significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension 
expense and termination benefits and to the disclosures for all employee benefits. The amended standard is 
effective from 1 January 2013.

d) IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”

IFRS 13 provides new guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure requirements and is effective from 
1 January 2013.

4. Use of Judgement and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements involves management estimates and assumptions that affect the re-
ported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Es-
timates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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Consequently, the specific considerations regarding the use of management judgment in each area of esti-
mate have been outlined in the respective accounting policy and disclosure note. The Bank’s critical account-
ing judgments and estimates are as follows:

• Provisions for the impairment of loan operations. The Bank’s method for determining the level of impair-
ment of loan operations is described in the “impairment” accounting policy and further explained un-
der “credit risk” of risk management. Portfolio provisions for loans not individually assessed as impaired 
amounted to EUR 8,824 thousand, as indicated in note 11.

 In determining the probabilities of default, the Bank applies a collective provisioning rate on the entire 
loan portfolio from the GEM’s database, maintained by the European Investment Bank and the International 
Financial Corporation. This calculation formula of the GEM database takes into account Basel II criteria 
such as loss-given default and discount factor multipliers.

 An increase on specific provisions during the year was made for the identified impairment of EUR 5,445 
thousand. Specific Provisions are assigned according to the degree of potential impairment resulting from 
the impairment test that is conducted on the basis of objective evidence obtained through a risk asset 
review process. An impairment test includes projected cash in-flows and out-flows, available for debt ser-
vice until maturity, which are discounted at the effective rate to reach a net present value for a particular 
operation, less any collateral that can be realized. Impairment losses incurred from specific provisions are 
recognized to the income statement.

• Provision for impairment on debt investment securities. The Bank had impaired bonds issued by the Greek 
government as indicated in note 13.

• Staff retirement benefits. The Bank has established a pension plan for its staff which is described in “staff 
retirement and termination benefits” accounting policy and is detailed under staff retirement plan in note 
26. The present value of retirement benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial and financial assump-
tions used, including the discount rate applied. At the end of each year, the Bank determines the appro-
priate discount rate and other assumptions to be used to determine the present value of estimated future 
pension obligations, based on interest rates of suitable long-term bonds and on currencies as the EUR and 
USD. The Bank’s liability to the staff retirement plan at 31 December 2012 was EUR 759 thousand.

Actual results could differ from those estimates mentioned above, although such differences are believed not 
material and do not affect these financial statements.

5. Risk Management
Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but is managed through an ongoing process of identification, meas-
urement, and monitoring, and is subject to risk limits and controls. A conservative approach to risk taking 
together with effective risk management are critical to the Bank’s continuing operations and profitability. The 
Board of Directors has approved risk management policies and guidelines that are delegated to the manage-
ment of the Bank for the identification and control of risk.

The Bank’s lending risk management policy documents describe the procedures for approval, management, 
and review of lending activity exposures. The Bank’s Treasury investment policy documents define the risk 
parameters to be observed by the Treasury in managing its exposures. The Bank is exposed to risks identified 
in this section.

Financial Risk
The Bank’s exposure to financial risk is through its financial assets and liabilities including any receivables 
from these financial assets. Two key aspects of financial risk are (i) credit risk and (ii) liquidity risk.
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a) Credit Risk

The Bank is subject to credit risk, which is the risk that customers or counterparties will be unable to meet 
their obligations as they fall due. Credit risk arises principally from the Bank’s lending activities. Regular 
reviews are conducted of all exposures within the lending portfolios, typically on a semi-annual basis, though 
exposures that are perceived to be more vulnerable to possible default are reviewed more frequently.

At each review there is (i) an assessment of whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the 
exposure, (ii) recommendations of actions to mitigate risk, and (iii) reconfirming or adjusting the risk ratings, 
and for equity investments, reviewing of fair value. Where relevant, the level of collective impairment or 
specific provision is evaluated and reconfirmed or adjusted. Responsibility for operations considered to be in 
jeopardy may be transferred from the original lending department to a corporate recovery team in order to 
most effectively manage the restructuring and recovery process.

Provision and reserve amounts are calculated each month using the Bank’s IFRS compliant methodology, 
which as of 31 December 2011 uses a different source of information, the GEMs risk database (see section of 
the accounting policies: Impairment). The loan loss data is updated annually and provides objective evidence 
of impairment, using separately each operation’s risk profile, adjusting it for current circumstances when 
necessary, upon which to estimate provisions of impairment.

For credit risks incurred by the Bank’s Treasury in its investment and hedging activities, the Board of Directors 
has approved policies and guidelines for the determination of counterparty and investment exposure limits. 
The Bank’s Risk Management assigns and monitors these counterparty and issuer credit risk limits. Treasury 
credit risks are also reviewed on a monthly basis by the Bank’s Asset and Liability Committee.

The table below summarizes the maximum exposure to credit risk and indicates the worst-case scenario, 
without taking into consideration collateral, other credit enhancements, or provisions of impairment.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Cash and bank balances
Debt investment securities
Derivative financial instruments
Loans
Equity investments
Other assets

18,227
215,533

11,517
742,614

43,290
14,677

11,888
155,020

-
688,218

32,173
9,588

On-balance-sheet
Undrawn commitments

1,045,858
106,859

896,887
171,967

Total 1,152,717 1,068,854
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b) Analysis by Rating Agency

The tables below provide an analysis of financial investments in accordance with their Moody’s rating as fol-
lows:

2012

Presented in EUR (000)
Aaa – 

Aa3
A1 –  

A3
Baa1 – 

Baa3
Caa1 – 

Caa3
Unrated Total

Analysis by Moody’s rating

Cash and bank balances
Debt investment securities
Equity investments

18,227
-
-

-
182,500

-

-
12,430

-

-
20,603

-

-
-

43,290

18,227
215,533

43,290

At 31 December 18,227 182,500 12,430 20,603 43,290 277,050

Of which issued by

Governments
Corporates
Deposits at banks

-
-

18,227

-
182,500

-

-
12,430

-

20,603
-
-

-
43,290

-

20,603
238,220

18,227

At 31 December 18,227 182,500 12,430 20,603 43,290 277,050

Of which classified as

Available-for-sale
Held-to-maturity
Amortized cost

-
-

18,227

-
182,500

-

12,430
-
-

20,603
-
-

43,290
-
-                         

76,323
182,500

18,227

At 31 December 18,227 182,500 12,430 20,603 43,290 277,050

2011

Presented in EUR (000)
Aaa – 

Aa3
A1 –  

A3
Baa1 – 

Baa3
Caa1 – 

Caa3
Unrated Total

Analysis by Moody’s rating

Cash and bank balances
Debt investment securities
Equity investments

11,888
-
-

-
114,321

-

-
21,229

-

-
19,470

-

-
-

32,173

11,888
155,020

32,173

At 31 December 11,888 114,321 21,229 19,470 32,173 199,081

Of which issued by

Governments
Corporates
Deposits at banks

-
-

11,888

-
114,321

-

8,680
12,549

-

19,470
-
-

-
32,173

-

28,150
159,043

11,888

At 31 December 11,888 114,321 21,229 19,470 32,173 199,081

Of which classified as

Available-for-sale
Held-to-maturity
Amortized cost

-
-

11,888

-
114,321

-

21,229
-
-

19,470
-
-

32,173
-
-                         

72,872
114,321

11,888

At 31 December 11,888 114,321 21,229 19,470 32,173 199,081
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c) Collateral and Credit Enhancements

The Bank mitigates credit risk by holding collateral and other credit enhancements against exposure to cus-
tomers and counterparties where it believes such security is necessary. The Bank defines security as mecha-
nisms, procedures, and assets negotiated in transactions that are meant to protect it against loss in case of 
non-performance. Security includes, but is not limited to, material assets, financial instruments, covenants, and 
comfort letters.

• Loans and advances. The Board of Directors’ approved guidelines for taking security under lending opera-
tions set the amounts and types of collateral and other credit enhancements. The main types of collateral 
that may be obtained by the Bank are: mortgages on properties and equipment, pledges of equity shares 
and investment instruments, assignment of rights on certain contracts, cash or blocked deposits, and other 
third party guarantees. When needed, the Bank reassesses the change in the market value of collateral and, 
if necessary, requests the pledging of additional collateral in accordance with the relevant agreement.

• Other financial instruments. Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances 
is determined by the nature of the instrument. Investment securities, treasury bills, and other eligible bills 
are generally unsecured. The Bank holds collateral against its derivative contracts.

d) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk concerns the ability of the Bank to fulfill its financial obligations as they become due, and is 
a measure of the extent to which the Bank may require funds to meet those obligations. The Bank’s liquidity 
management is concentrated on the timing of cash in-flows and out-flows, as well as the adequacy of available 
cash and liquid securities. For this, the Bank estimates and relates all expected cash flows from assets and li-
abilities.

The Bank’s commitment to maintaining a strong liquidity position is established in policies, approved by the 
Board of Directors, including a minimum liquidity ratio of 50% liquid assets to the next twelve months net cash 
requirements. The Bank’s liquid assets are maintained in short-term placements and negotiable securities.

The table below presents the cash flows payable on financial liabilities placed into relevant maturity groups, 
based on the remaining period from the financial position date to the contractual maturity date. It indicates 
the earliest maturity dates that the Bank’s counterparties have the ability to demand repayment. The figures 
represent undiscounted cash flows and therefore do not match to the statement of financial position.

Presented in EUR (000)
Up to 1 
month

From 1 
month to 
3 months

From 3 
months 

to 1 year

From 1 
year to 
5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

Borrowings
Payables and accrued interest

-
-

1,400
5,347

91,546
3,758

299,649
-

15,408
-

408,003
9,105

Financial liabilities at  
31 December 2012

0 6,747 95,304 299,649 15,408 417,108

Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Payables and accrued interest

-
-
-

122
8,746
2,210

173,343
-

841

99,529
-
-

11,467
-
-

284,461
8,746
3,051

Financial liabilities at  
31 December 2011

0 11,078 174,184 99,529 11,467 296,258

For the Bank’s financial assets, the majority mature from one year and over taking into consideration the latest 
possible repayment date.
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Market Risk
Market risk refers to the probability of losses due to changes in the market prices of financial instruments, 
interest rates, and exchange rates. The Bank funds its operations by using its capital and by borrowing in the 
international capital markets. The Bank aims to match, wherever possible, the currencies, tenors, and interest 
rate characteristics of its borrowings with those of its lending portfolios.  When necessary, the Bank uses de-
rivative instruments to reduce its exposure to exchange rate and interest rate risk.

a) Foreign Exchange Risk

Exchange rate risk is the impact of unanticipated changes in foreign exchange rates on the Bank’s assets and 
liabilities and any impact that could mirror on the income statement. The Bank monitors its assets and liabili-
ties in order to ensure the Bank takes no significant foreign exchange risks. In doing so, the Bank matches, to 
the extent practicable, the lending obligations in any one currency, after swap activities, with liabilities in the 
same currency.

Furthermore, to avoid currency mismatches, borrowers are required to service their loans in the currencies 
disbursed by the Bank.

The effect of any currency fluctuations to the net exposure of the Bank is minimal. The tables below provide a 
currency breakdown of the Bank’s assets and liabilities. 

Presented in EUR (000) Euro
United 
States 
dollar

Pound 
sterling

Other * Total

Assets
 Cash and bank balances
 Debt investment securities
 Impairment losses on debt securities
 Derivative financial instruments
 Loans
 Deferred income
 Impairment losses on loans
 Equity investments

14,619
203,103
(15,070)

11,517
339,431
(4,153)
(6,382)
16,991

3,592
12,430

-
-

403,183
(2,541)

(35,644)
6,777

7
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

9
-
-
-
-
-
-

19,522

18,227
215,533
(15,070)

11,517
742,614
(6,694)

(42,026)
43,290

Total 560,056 387,797 7 19,531 967,391

Liabilities
 Borrowings
 Payables and accrued interest

114,574
6,271

258,781
2,834

-
-

-
-

373,355
9,105

Total 120,845 261,615 0 0 382,460

Net financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments

439,211
103,553

126,182
(103,553)

7
-

19,531
-

584,931
0

Currency balance at 31 December 2012 542,764 22,629 7 19,531 584,931

* Primarily represents the Access Bank equity investment which is denominated in Azerbaijan manats.
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Presented in EUR (000) Euro
United 
States 
dollar

Pound 
sterling

Other Total

Assets
 Cash and bank balances
 Debt investment securities
 Impairment losses on debt securities
 Loans
 Deferred income
 Impairment losses on loans
 Equity investments
 Impairment losses on equity investments

8,277
123,150
(14,171)
278,730
(3,779)
(4,961)
12,245

(183)

3,590
31,870

-
409,488
(3,134)

(34,882)
2,587
(425)

13
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

8
-
-
-
-
-

17,341
-

11,888
155,020
(14,171)
688,218
(6,913)

(39,843)
32,173

(608)

Total 399,308 409,094 13 17,349 825,764

Liabilities
 Borrowings
 Derivative financial instruments
 Payables and accrued interest

57,923
8,746
2,155

210,161
-

785

-
-

111

-
-
-

268,084
8,746
3,051

Total 68,824 210,946 111 0 279,881

Net financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments

330,484
211,021

198,148
(210,743)

(98)
-

17,349
(278)

545,883
0

Currency balance at 31 December 2011 541,505 (12,595) (98) 17,071 545,883

b) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market inter-
est rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is determined on a financial instrument indicates to 
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk. The Asset and Liability Management Unit monitors the interest 
rate exposure of the Bank.

The tables below provide information on the extent of the Bank’s interest rate exposure based either on the 
contractual maturity date of the financial instruments or, in the case of instruments that re-price to a market 
rate of interest before maturity, the next re-pricing date as at the financial position date.

Presented in EUR (000)

Interest bearing

Non- 
interest 
bearing

TotalUp to 1 
month

From 1 
month to 
3 months

From 3 
months 

to 1 year

From 1 
year to 
5 years

Assets
 Cash and bank balances
 Debt investment securities
 Impairment losses on debt securities
 Derivative financial instruments
 Loans
 Deferred income
 Impairment losses on loans
 Equity investments

18,225
90,000

-
-

113,529
-
-
-

-
94,000

-
-

315,357
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

274,407
-
-
-

-
31,533

-
-

39,321
-
-
-

2
-

(15,070)
11,517

-
(6,694)

(42,026)
43,290

18,227
215,533
(15,070)

11,517
742,614
(6,694)

(42,026)
43,290

Total 221,754 409,357 274,407 70,854 (8,981) 967,391

Liabilities
 Borrowings
 Payables and accrued interest

26,906
-

27,947
-

146,010
-

172,492
-

-
9,105

373,355
9,105

Total 26,906 27,947 146,010 172,492 9,105 382,460

Derivative financial instruments (160,492) (12,000) - 172,492 - 0

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2012 34,356 369,410 128,397 70,854 (18,086) 584,931
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Presented in EUR (000)

Interest bearing
Non- 

interest 
bearing

TotalUp to 1 
month

From 1 
month to 
3 months

From 3 
months 

to 1 year

From 1 
year to 
5 years

Assets
 Cash and bank balances
 Debt investment securities
 Impairment losses on debt securities
 Loans
 Deferred income
 Impairment losses on loans
 Equity investments
 Impairment losses on equity 
  investments

11,884
114,321

-
118,383

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

257,533
-
-
-

-

-
-
-

297,042
-
-
-

-

-
40,699

-
15,260

-
-
-

-

4
-

(14,171)
-

(6,913)
(39,843)

32,173

(608)

11,888
155,020
(14,171)
688,218
(6,913)

(39,843)
32,173

(608)

Total 244,588 257,533 297,042 55,959 (29,358) 825,764

Liabilities
 Borrowings
 Derivative financial instruments
 Payables and accrued interest

-
-
-

57,908
-
-

210,176
-
-

-
-
-

-
8,746
3,051

268,084
8,746
3,051

Total 0 57,908 210,176 0 11,797 279,881

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2011 244,588 199,625 86,866 55,959 (41,155) 545,883

c) Sensitivity Analysis

The Bank’s interest rate sensitivity analysis comprises of two elements. Firstly, there is the differential between 
the interest rate the Bank earns on its assets and the cost of borrowing to fund these assets. For this element the 
Bank does, as closely as possible, match interest rate periods, thus minimizing sensitivity. Secondly, there is 
the absolute rate earned on assets that are funded by the Bank’s equity resources. The majority of these equity 
resources are currently invested in the Bank’s loan portfolio at floating rates; therefore, subjecting earnings on 
equity resources to some degree of fluctuation. As the Bank matures and its financial position grows, it is the 
intention that earnings on equity resources be stabilized by an increased investment in fixed rate instruments.

The table below details the re-pricing gap by currency. A parallel upward or downward shift in the EUR curve 
of 50 basis points would have generated the maximum loss or gain respectively.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Euro
United states dollar
Romanian lei

225,600
109,200

-

162,900
28,700

(100)

Total re-pricing gap 334,800 191,500

Shift of 50 basis points in the EUR curve 1,674 958

Operational Risk
The Bank defines operational risk as all aspects of risk related exposure other than those falling within the 
scope of financial and market risk. This includes the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people, and systems or from external events and legal risk. The Bank has a low tolerance for losses 
arising from the operational risks it is exposed to.

Where any such risks are identified, appropriate mitigation and control measures are put in place. The Bank’s 
operational risk management focuses on proactive measures to mitigate the operational risk.
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Classification and Fair Value
The tables below identify the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 categories.

Presented in EUR (000)

At 31 December 2012

Held-to- 
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

At amortized 
cost

Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Assets
 Cash and bank balances
 Debt investment securities
 Loans
 Deferred income
 Impairment losses on loans
 Other assets

-
182,500

-
-
-
-

-
-

742,614
-

(42,026)
14,677

18,227
-
-

(6,694)
-
-

18,227
182,500
742,614
(6,694)

(42,026)
14,677

18,227
182,500
742,614
(6,694)

(42,026)
14,677

Total financial assets 182,500 715,265 11,533 909,298 909,298

Liabilities
 Borrowings
 Payables and accrued interest

-
-

-
-

373,355
9,105

373,355
9,105

373,355
9,105

Total financial liabilities 0 0 382,460 382,460 382,460

Presented in EUR (000)

At 31 December 2011

Held-to- 
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

At amortized 
cost

Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Assets
 Cash and bank balances
 Debt investment securities
 Loans
 Deferred income
 Impairment losses on loans
 Other assets

-
114,321

-
-
-
-

-
-

688,218
-

(39,843)
9,588

11,888
-
-

(6,913)
-
-

11,888
114,321
688,218
(6,913)

(39,843)
9,588

11,888
114,321
688,218
(6,913)

(39,843)
9,588

Total financial assets 114,321 657,963 4,975 777,259 777,259

Liabilities
 Borrowings
 Payables and accrued interest

-
-

-
-

268,084
3,051

268,084
3,051

268,084
3,051

Total financial liabilities 0 0 271,135 271,135 271,135

a) Fair Value Hierarchy

The Bank held the below financial instruments measured at fair value, and uses the following hierarchy for 
determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

• Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, 

• Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded 
  fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly, and 

• Level 3: Techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
  that are not based on observable market data.
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The tables below identify the Bank’s financial instruments measured at fair value.

Presented in EUR (000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Carrying 

Amount

Available-for-sale:
 Debt investment securities
 Equity investments
Derivative financial instruments

33,033
-
-

-
-

11,517

-
43,290

-

33,033
43,290
11,517

At 31 December 2012 33,033 11,517 43,290 87,840

Presented in EUR (000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Carrying 

Amount

Available-for-sale:
 Debt investment securities
 Equity investments
Derivative financial instruments

40,699
517

-

-
-

(8,746)

-
31,656

-

40,699
32,173
(8,746)

At 31 December 2011 41,216 (8,746) 31,656 64,126

b) Classification

Investment securities classified as “available for sale” include government and corporate bonds; their fair 
value has been determined using quoted prices.

Investment securities classified as “held to maturity” include European commercial papers and notes with an 
initial maturity lower than 12 months; they are carried at amortized which is estimated to be their fair value 
due to their short term nature. No market prices are available.

Equity investments classified as “available for sale” include investments that are not quoted on an exchange 
(i.e. private equity), the fair value of which has been estimated with techniques that use inputs not based on 
observable market data.

c) Fair Value Measurement in Level 3

The table provides a reconciliation of the fair values of the Bank’s Level 3 financial assets of the fair value hi-
erarchy.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

At 1 January
Total gains or losses for the year recognized in the  
 income statement
Total gains or losses recognized in other  
 comprehensive income
Purchases, sales, issues, and settlements
Transfers into or out of level 3

31,656
 
-
 

1,469
10,165

-

16,968
 
-
 

2,761
11,927

-

Total 43,290 31,656

Capital Management
The Bank’s initial authorized share capital was SDR 1 billion, which is fully subscribed by the shareholding 
states. In December 2007, the Board of Governors approved an increase of the Bank’s authorized share capital 
to SDR 3 billion and authorized the offering of SDR 1 billion to the existing Member States for subscription, 
with the objective of increasing subscribed capital to a total of SDR 2 billion. This increase will allow the Bank 
to implement its operational strategy to a substantial degree. The Bank does not have any other classes of 
capital.
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In October 2008 the above new shares in the amount of SDR 1 billion that were offered for subscription to the 
Bank’s shareholding states were fully subscribed and allocated. Accordingly, the Bank’s paid-in share capital 
was doubled from SDR 300 million to SDR 600 million. The remaining SDR 1 billion of authorized share capital 
has not yet been allocated.

The capital usage of the Bank is guided by statutory and financial policy parameters. Article 15 of the Estab-
lishing Agreement limits the total amount of outstanding loans, equity investments, and guarantees made for 
ordinary operations to 150% of the Bank’s unimpaired subscribed capital, reserves, and surpluses, establish-
ing a 1.5:1 institutional gearing ratio. Additionally, disbursed equity investments shall not at any time exceed 
an amount corresponding to the Bank’s total unimpaired paid-in capital, surpluses, and general reserve. At 
the 36th meeting of the Board of Directors in 2008, the operational gearing ratio was set at 100% of the Bank’s 
unimpaired paid-up capital, reserves, and surpluses, and the usable portion of the callable capital. This limit 
on the total amount of operations which includes all callable capital is approximately SDR 1.9 billion (EUR 2.2 
billion).

The Bank preserves an actively managed capital to prudently cover risks in its activities. As a multilateral 
financial institution, the Bank is not subject to regulatory capital requirements. However, the Bank uses stand-
ards proposed by the Basel II Capital Accord as a benchmark for its risk management and capital framework. 
Pursuant to Article 5 of the Establishing Agreement, the Board of Governors shall at intervals of not more than 
five years review the capital stock of the Bank. In substance, the primary objective of the Bank’s capital man-
agement is to ensure adequate capital is available to support the Bank’s operations.

6. Segment Reporting
The Bank is a multilateral financial institution dedicated to accelerating development and promoting coop-
eration among its shareholder countries. The Bank operates in a specific geographical area and the primary 
reporting format for business segments includes Lending and Treasury operations. Lending activities repre-
sent investments in projects such as loans, equity investments, and guarantees, which in accordance with the 
Establishing Agreement, are made to accelerate development and promote co-operation among the Bank’s 
shareholder countries. Treasury activities include raising debt finance, investing surplus liquidity, and manag-
ing the Bank’s foreign exchange and interest rate risks.

Presented in EUR (000)
2012 2011

Lending Treasury Total Lending Treasury Total

Income statement

Interest income
Net fees and commissions

42,306
1,041

3,393
-

45,699
1,041

34,452
431

5,254
2

39,706
433

Total segment revenues
Less: interest expense
Net fair value, foreign exchange and other
Less: personnel and other admin.  
 expenses
Less: depreciation and amortization

43,347
(14,383)

3,369 

(14,424)
(527)

3,393
(581)
(264) 

(1,044)
(2)

46,740
(14,964)

3,105 

(15,468)
(529)

34,883
(11,924)

6,871 

(14,219)
(330)

5,256
(186)
1,011 

(1,047)
(68)

40,139
(12,110)

7,882 

(15,266)
(398)

Segment income before impairment
Less: impairment (losses) release

17,382
(3,055)

1,502
(899)

18,884
(3,954)

15,281
3,983

4,966
(14,171)

20,247
(10,188)

Net income for the year 14,327 603 14,930 19,264 (9,205) 10,059

Financial position

Segment assets 753,376 230,207 983,583 684,094 152,737 836,831

At end of year 983,583 836,831

Segment liabilities
Members’ equity

382,460
-

-
-

382,460
601,123

271,135
-

8,746
-

279,881
556,950

At end of year 983,583 836,831

The geographical segment reporting of the Bank is presented in the following note “Operational analysis.”

Notes to the Financial Statements



74

7. Interest Income
Interest and similar income is analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000)
Year to 31 December 

2012
Year to 31 December 

2011

From loans
From placements with financial institutions
From investment securities available-for-sale
From investment securities held-to-maturity
From derivative financial assets at fair value
From front-end fees and commitment fees

39,663
8

643
2,677

65
2,643

31,633
25

1,436
3,009

784
2,819

Interest and similar income 45,699 39,706

8. Interest Expense
Interest and similar expense is analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000)
Year to 31 December 

2012
Year to 31 December 

2011

From borrowed funds
From issued debt
From derivative financial liabilities at fair value
From amortized issuance and arrangement costs
From other charges

7,570
5,919

510
894

71

5,254
6,105

71
596

84

Interest and similar expense 14,964 12,110

9. Net Fees and Commissions
Net fees and commissions are analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000)
Year to 31 December 

2012
Year to 31 December 

2011

Guarantee fees
Management fees
Appraisal fees
Administration fees
Arrangement fees
Surveillance fees
Prepayment/cancellation fees
Participation fees
Other

2
196

-
11

600
20

197
-

15

-
187

11
-
-
-

153
(74)
156

Net Fees and commissions 1,041 433
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10. Personnel and Other Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses are analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000)
Year to 31 December 

2012
Year to 31 December 

2011

Salaries and benefits
Staff retirement plan

10,220
1,939

9,277
1,590

Personnel expenses 12,159 10,867

Professional fees and related expenses
Utilities and maintenance
Other administrative

426
1,309
1,574

1,229
1,303
1,867

Other administrative expenses 3,309 4,399

11. Impairment Losses On Loans
Loans are stated net of provisions. A summary of the movements in provisions for impairment were as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) Collective Specific Total

At 31 December 2010
Charge for the year
Release for the year
Foreign exchange adjustments

21,265
-

(9,962)
85

22,069
5,371

-
1,015

43,334
5,371

(9,962)
1,100

At 31 December 2011
Charge for the year
Release for the year
Foreign exchange adjustments

11,388
-

(2,394)
(170)

28,455
5,445

-
(698)

39,843
5,445

(2,394)
(868)

At 31 December 2012 8,824 33,202 42,026

As of 31 December 2011 the Bank adopted a new basis for the purpose of collective evaluation of impairment, 
which was approved by the Board of Directors. The Bank’s collective impairment evaluation, which was previ-
ously based on the banking systems in the BSEC countries, is currently based on the Global Emerging Mar-
kets (“GEMs”) data base. The GEMs risk data base standardizes the risk rating and data collection process 
of member International Financial Institutions. The Bank’s rating scorecards which determine operation risk 
levels were developed by the Bank with the assistance of Moody’s Analytics.

At 31 December 2012 the Bank categorized three non-performing loans and two sub-standard loans as im-
paired with an exposure amount of EUR 68,937 thousand (2011: EUR 48,415 thousand), and the provision on 
these assets amounted to EUR 33,202 thousand (2011: EUR 28,455 thousand), as collateral held is estimated 
not to have significant value.

Notes to the Financial Statements



76

12. Impairment Losses On Debt Investment Securities
A summary of the movements for impairment losses of available-for-sale debt investments is as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) Total

At 31 December 2011
Charge for the year

14,171
899

At 31 December 2012 15,070

13. Debt Investment Securities
Debt investment securities are analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Commercial papers

20,603
12,430

182,500

28,150
12,549

114,321

Debt investment securities
Less: impairment losses

215,533
(15,070)

155,020
(14,171)

Debt investment securities net of impairment 200,463 140,849

The Bank’s bonds are classified within the available-for-sale portfolio, and commercial papers are classified 
within the held-to-maturity portfolio.

In 2012, the Hellenic Republic initiated and completed through the introduction via legislation of collective 
action clauses a bond swap (“PSI”) in respect of certain series of bonds, including bonds held by the Bank. 
The Bank had purchased the original bonds that had a nominal value of EUR 20,000 thousand, at EUR 19,470 
thousand. These were replaced in the PSI via the activation of such collective action clauses with new bonds 
having a nominal value of EUR 9,300 thousand. The “acquisition cost” of these replacement Hellenic govern-
ment bonds was the fair value of the bonds at the exchange rate:

Presented in EUR (000)

Nominal value of original bonds
Discount received

20,000
(530)

Acquisition cost
Prior year impairment loss
Current year impairment loss recognized in the income statement

19,470
(14,171)

(899)

Fair value of new bonds 4,400

The above government bond is further analyzed as follows:

Cumulative fair value
gain (loss)

At 31 December 
2012

Presented in EUR (000)
Nominal

value
Acquisition

cost
Income

statement

Other
comprehensive

income

Fair
Value

Hellenic Republic 9,300 4,400 - 1,132 5,532
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14.  Derivative Financial Instruments
The table below shows outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts the Bank had engaged. The first col-
umn shows the sum of notional amounts, which is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, and is the basis 
upon which changes in the value are measured.

Presented in EUR (000)

At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Notional
Amount

Fair
Value

Notional
Amount

Fair
Value

Currency swap purchases
Currency swap sales
Designated as fair value hedges

106,500
(103,634)

-

106,500
(103,553)

8,570

202,275
(211,808)

-

202,275
(211,021)

-

Derivative financial instruments 2,866 11,517 (9,533) (8,746)

15. Loans
The Bank offers a range of loan facilities directed to investments for both project and trade financing, tailored 
to meet an individual operation’s requirements. Loans may be denominated in any convertible currency or a 
combination of convertible currencies in which the Bank is able to fund itself.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

At 1 January
Disbursements
Less: repayments
Foreign exchange movements

688,218
215,269

(153,449)
(7,424)

654,746
214,132

(190,062)
9,402

Loans total
Less: deferred income
Less: impairment losses

742,614
(6,694)

(42,026)

688,218
(6,913)

(39,843)

Loans net of impairment 693,894 641,462

The Bank classifies loan facilities as either standard, overdue, doubtful, or non-performing. Non-performing 
are those that are primarily impaired and which associated interest is not being accrued.

As of 31 December 2012 all loan facilities are classified as standard and there were five that were impaired.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Individually impaired
Less: allowance for impairment

68,937
(33,202)

48,415
(28,455)

Carrying amount 35,735 19,960

Collectively impaired
Less: allowance for impairment

673,677
(8,824)

639,803
(11,388)

Carrying amount 664,853 628,415

Past due but not impaired
Neither past due nor impaired

-
-

-
-

Total carrying amount at amortized cost 700,588 648,375
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Interest is generally based on Libor for USD loans and Euribor for EUR loans plus a margin. Margins are de-
pendent on the risk category of each loan and typically range from 1.5% to 8.0%. The fair value of the loan 
portfolio is approximately equal to carrying value plus accrued interest as all loans bear a variable interest 
rate and are given at market terms and conditions. Further analysis of the loan portfolio is presented in note 
“Operational analysis.”

16. Equity Investments
A primary focus of the Bank is to facilitate access to funding for those small and medium size enterprises with 
the potential for positive economic developmental impact. With this objective in mind, the Bank, together with 
a number of other institutions, invested in the entities as detailed below.

Presented in EUR (000) % of
Investment

At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Cost
Fair

Value
Cost

Fair
Value

SEAF Caucasus Growth Fund
Access Bank, Azerbaijan
Transgaz Romania
Balkan Accession Fund
A-Park Kaluga, Russia
Emerging Europe Accession Fund
Rusal
ADM Ceecat Recovery Fund
European Virgin Fund

25.00
20.00

0.72
9.09

19.99
8.40
0.01
5.65

21.05

2,356
16,403

-
7,589
1,714

315
4

8,178
4,799

2,212
19,522

-
6,271
2,694

6
203

8,019
4,363

-
13,328

419
7,226
1,714

188
4

4,106
2,379

-
16,824

517
6,792
1,467

188
208

3,798
2,379

Available-for-sale total
Less: impairment losses

41,358
-

43,290
-

29,364
-

32,173
(608)

Equity investments net of impairment 43,290 31,565

The valuation of such investments, which are unlisted, has been estimated using the most recent management 
accounts or the latest audited accounts as of 31 December 2012, as management considers that is the best 
available estimate of the investments’ fair value.

The increase of EUR 1,932 thousand since the acquisition of the investments was due to an unrealized gain in 
fair value, attributable to the Bank’s participation.

During the year, the Bank had realized a net income of EUR 3,350 thousand from its investment in the Access 
Bank by way of increase in share value instead of receiving dividends in cash.

The Bank has a committed amount of EUR 24,012 thousand towards the above entities share capital, which as 
of 31 December 2012 has not been called-up. Further analysis of the equity investment portfolio is presented 
in note “Operational analysis.”

As at 31 December 2012, the Bank has only three equity investments where it holds slightly more than 20 
per cent of the investee share capital but does not exert significant influence, hence the investment is not ac-
counted for as an investment in an associate under IAS 28.
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17. Operational Analysis
The analysis of operational activity of the Bank by geographical area, instrument and sector are presented 
below:

Presented in EUR (000)

At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Outstanding 
disbursements

Undrawn 
commitments

Outstanding 
disbursements

Undrawn 
commitments

Analysis by instrument

Loans
Equity investments
Guarantees *

742,614
43,290

-

66,847
24,012
16,000

688,218
32,173

-

130,012
25,955
16,000

At end of year 785,904 106,859 720,391 171,967

Analysis by country

Albania
Armenia
Azerbaijan
Bulgaria
Georgia 
Greece
Moldova
Romania
Russia
Turkey
Ukraine
Regional

42,563
31,196
76,476
72,863
15,572
43,516
15,040
45,000

190,940
155,028

76,840
20,870

-
1,061
5,699

-
27,536

-
758

-
8,562

32,978
6,253

24,012

50,250
32,332
40,499
66,121
22,877
47,724
21,064
20,517

162,241
158,051

85,558
13,157

3,478
-

22,184
21,000
17,082

-
4,000

20,000
35,082

-
23,186
25,955

At end of year 785,904 106,859 720,391 171,967

Analysis by sector **

Financial institutions
Energy and infrastructure
General industries***

323,842
110,956
351,106

34,051
22,253
50,555

292,211
129,479
298,701

62,805
59,185
49,977

At end of year 785,904 106,859 720,391 171,967

* Trade finance guarantees primarily represent stand-by letters of credit issued in favor of confirming banks that  
 have undertaken the payment risk of issuing banks. Other guarantees include unfunded full or partial risk 
 participations.
** The sector analysis is based on per Banking Team responsibilities.

*** Also includes transport and tourism.

The Bank is restricted to operating in its 11 Member States, and individual country limits are set as a maxi-
mum at 30% of approved commitments. This limit is calculated on the basis of the Board of Directors approved 
operations, minus repayments and cancellations. Individual operations are further constrained by the Single 
Obligor Limit and by monitoring of Sectoral Exposure.

Operations are monitored according to a schedule prepared by the Bank’s Risk Management Department, 
in conjunction with the originating Banking Teams. Monitoring reports are completed by the Bank’s Project 
Implementation and Monitoring Department based on financial analysis prepared by the Financial Analysis 
Department. Risk asset reviews, based on the mentioned monitoring reports, are performed by the Risk Man-
agement Department and may result in a downgrade or upgrade of an operation’s status and, if a significant 
deterioration is noted, trigger an impairment test.
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18. Other Assets
Other assets is analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Accrued interest
Advances and prepaid expenses
Other prepayments
Pending pension plan payment
Rental reimbursement receivable
Guarantee deposits

7,703
2,791

237
2,999

875
72

7,258
1,149

236
-

875
70

Other assets 14,677 9,588

19. Property And Equipment
Property and equipment is analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000)
Buildings 

(leasehold)
Vehicle

Furniture 
and office 

accessories

Computers 
and office 

equipment
Total

Cost

At 31 December 2010
Additions
Disposals

194
3
-

68
95

(68)

497
57

-

1,433
287
(11)

2,192
442
(79)

At 31 December 2011
Additions
Disposals

197
140

-

95
-
-

554
56

-

1,709
184
(5)

2,555
380
(5)

At 31 December 2012 337 95 610 1,888 2,930

Accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2010
Charges
Disposals

190
3
-

49
33

(68)

451
24

-

1,214
115
(11)

1,904
175
(79)

At 31 December 2011
Charges
Disposals

193
11

-

14
19

-

475
29

-

1,318
177
(5)

2,000
236
(5)

At 31 December 2012 204 33 504 1,490 2,231

Net book value

At 31 December 2012 133 62 106 398 699

At 31 December 2011 4 81 79 391 555

At 30 December 2010 4 19 46 219 288
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20. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprising computer software are analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) Total

Cost

At 31 December 2010
Net additions

2,609
390

At 31 December 2011
Net additions

2,999
185

At 31 December 2012 3,184

Accumulated amortization

At 31 December 2010
Charges

1,837
238

At 31 December 2011
Charges

2,075
293

At 31 December 2012 2,368

Net book value

At 31 December 2012 816

At 31 December 2011 924

At 30 December 2010 772

21. Borrowings
Borrowing facilities arranged at end of the year are analyzed below. In addition to medium or long-term bor-
rowings, the Bank utilizes short-term financing in the form of borrowings from commercial banks for cash 
management purposes. At December 2012 the Bank has issued debt securities in the amount of EUR 211,145 
thousand.

Presented in EUR (000)

At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Amount
used

Borrowings
arranged

Amount
used

Borrowings
Arranged

Euro
United States dollar
Swiss franc

114,574
93,224

165,557

174,574
146,278
165,557

57,923
210,161

-

148,923
210,161

-

Total 373,355 486,409 268,084 359,084

The Interest rate on borrowings falls within a range of Euribor or USD Libor of +0 to +300 points. There is no 
collateral against the above borrowed funds. The fair value of the borrowings is approximately equal to their 
carrying value.
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22. Payables and Accrued Interest
Payables and accrued interest is analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Accrued interest
Social insurance fund (IKA) contributions
Pension plan obligation
Suppliers and other accrued expenses
Pending pension plan payment
Other

4,258
29

759
1,056
2,999

4

1,167
31

841
1,012

-
-

Payables and accrued interest 9,105 3,051

23. Share Capital
In accordance with Article 4 of the Establishing Agreement, the initial authorized share capital of the Bank is 
one billion SDR divided into one million shares having a par value of one thousand SDR each. The authorized 
capital stock of the Bank may be increased at such time and under such terms as may seem advisable.

The Bank’s capital stock is divided into paid-in shares and callable shares. Payment for the paid-in shares 
subscribed to by members is made over a, or similar to, period of years in accordance with Article 6 of the 
Establishing Agreement or as determined in advance by the Bank. The same Article states that payment of the 
amount subscribed to the callable shares is subject to call only as and when required by the Bank to meet its 
obligations.

Under Article 37 of the Establishing Agreement, any member may withdraw from the Bank by transmitting in 
writing to the Bank at its Headquarters. Withdrawal by a member shall become effective and its membership 
shall cease on the date specified in its notice, but in no event less than six months after such notice is received 
by the Bank. However, at any time before the withdrawal becomes finally effective, the member may notify the 
Bank in writing of the cancellation of its notice of intention to withdraw. Under Article 39 of the Establishing 
Agreement, after the date on which a member ceases membership, it shall remain liable for its direct obliga-
tions to the Bank and also remain responsible for its contingent liabilities to the Bank, incurred as of that date. 
No member has ever withdrawn its membership, nor has any ever indicated to the Bank it might do so. Were a 
member to withdraw from the Bank, at the time a member ceases membership, the Bank shall arrange for the 
repurchase of such a member’s shares by the Bank as part of the settlement of accounts with such a member 
and be able to impose conditions and set dates pursuant to the same Article 39 of the Establishing Agreement. 
Any amount due to the member for its shares shall be withheld so long as the member, including its central 
bank or any of its agencies, has outstanding obligations to the Bank, which may, at the option of the Bank, be 
applied to any such liability as it matures. If losses are sustained by the Bank on any guarantees or loans which 
were outstanding on the date when a member ceased membership and the amount of such losses exceeds the 
amount of the reserves provided against losses on the date, the member concerned shall repay, upon demand, 
the amount by which the repurchase price of its shares would have been reduced if the losses had been taken 
into account when the repurchase price was determined.

Under Article 42 of the Establishing Agreement, in the event of termination of the operations of the Bank, the 
liability of members for the unpaid portion of the subscribed capital of the Bank shall continue until all claims 
of creditors, including all contingent claims, have been discharged.
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All participating members had fully subscribed to the initial authorized share capital in accordance with Arti-
cle 5 of the Establishing Agreement. Subsequently, at the Sixth Annual Meeting of the Board of Governors held 
on 6 June 2004, three Member States, Armenia, Georgia, and Moldova requested a fifty per cent reduction of 
their portion of subscribed capital, from 2% to 1% of the initial authorized capital, and the Board of Governors 
approved their request. On 5 October 2008, the new shares offered in the same structure as the initial author-
ized share capital, in the amount of SDR 1 billion, were fully subscribed by the Member States. Furthermore, 
Azerbaijan also subscribed to the 3% of the initial authorized share capital that remained unallocated, while 
Romania subscribed both to their allocation of new shares and to those of Georgia. This subscription process 
followed a decision taken by the Board of Governors in December 2007 to triple the Bank’s authorized capital 
to SDR 3 billion and to double the subscribed capital to SDR 2 billion, while leaving authorized capital of SDR 
1 billion unallocated. On October 2011, the Board of Governors approved the request from Moldova to a fifty 
per cent reduction of its portion of subscribed capital, from 1% to 0.5%, and those shares were released to 
unallocated.

The above share capital both in SDR and EUR equivalent is analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000)
At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

SDR EUR SDR EUR

Authorized share capital
Less: unallocated share capital*

3,000,000
(1,010,000)

3,494,085
(1,177,397)

3,000,000
(1,010,000)

3,547,897
(1,198,597)

Subscribed share capital
Less: shares not yet called
Less: shares called but not yet due
Less: shares called and past due

1,990,000
(1,393,000)

(156,939)
(12,991)

2,316,688
(1,623,876)

(182,950)
(15,144)

1,990,000
(1,393,000)

(177,269)
(15,502)

2,349,300
(1,653,115)

(210,371)
(18,396)

Called-up share capital
Cumulative translation adjustment
Advance against future call

427,070
-

10

494,718
(337)

11

404,229
-

12

467,418
(216)

15

Paid-in share capital 427,080 494,392 404,241 467,217

* Shares available to new or existing Member States.

The translation gains or losses on share capital which is callable and payable are credited or debited to the 
“Cumulative translation adjustment” to duly reflect the fluctuations of the SDR value of the members’ equity.

Initial Capital
In accordance with paragraph 2 under Article 5 of the Establishing Agreement, the initially authorized capital 
stock was subscribed by and issued to each Member as follows: 10% (SDR 100 million) fully paid and 20% 
(SDR 200 million) payable by promissory notes or other obligations which are not negotiable and non interest 
bearing in eight equal successive annual installments in the years 1998-2005.

Capital Increase
The capital increase of SDR 1 billion is divided into SDR 300 million paid in capital and SDR 700 million call-
able capital. Pursuant to the Board of Governors decision in October 2008, the SDR 300 million paid-in portion 
is divided into 10% (SDR 100 million) fully paid shares in 2010 and 20% (SDR 200 million) payable shares by 
promissory notes or other obligation issued by such member in eight equal successive annual installments 
in the years 2011 to 2018. As of October 2011, the capital increase was reduced by SDR 10 million of the sub-
scribed share capital.
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The initial and capital increase that was issued is analyzed as follows:

Presented in SDR (000)

At 31 December 2012

Initial
Capital

Capital
Increase

Total

Authorized share capital
Less: unallocated share capital

1,000,000
(30,000)

2,000,000
(980,000)

3,000,000
(1,010,000)

Subscribed share capital
Less: shares not yet called
Less: shares called but not yet due
Less: shares called and past due

970,000
(679,000)

-
-

1,020,000
(714,000)
(156,939)

(12,991)

1,990,000
(1,393,000)

(156,939)
(12,991)

Called-up share capital
Advance against future call

291,000
35

136,070
(25)

427,070
10

Paid-in share capital 291,035 136,045 427,080

Statement of Subscriptions
A statement of capital subscriptions illustrating the number of shares and the amount subscribed by each 
member is shown below, including their respective callable, payable, and the amount paid. The capital sub-
scription status at 31 December 2012 is analyzed as follows:

Member Shares
Subscribed Callable Payable Paid

Presented in SDR (000)

Albania
Armenia
Azerbaijan
Bulgaria
Georgia
Greece
Moldova
Romania
Russian Fed.
Turkey
Ukraine

40,000
20,000

100,000
270,000

10,000
330,000

10,000
280,000
330,000
330,000
270,000

40,000
20,000

100,000
270,000

10,000
330,000

10,000
280,000
330,000
330,000
270,000

28,000
14,000
70,000

189,000
7,000

231,000
7,000

196,000
231,000
231,000
189,000

6,000
1,500
7,500

20,250
-

25,441
-

21,750
24,750
24,750
37,989

6,000
4,500

22,500
60,750

3,000
73,559

3,000
62,250
74,250
74,250
43,011

Total 1,990,000 1,990,000 1,393,000 169,930 427,070
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24. Reserves
Reserves are analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) General Available-for-sale Total

At 31 December 2010
(Losses) on revaluation of available-for-sale
Transferred to income statement due to impairment
Transferred from retained earnings
Exchange rate difference due to conversion
Foreign exchange adjustments

31,451
-
-

6,346
200

(338)

(455)
(11,410)

14,171
-

(200)
338

30,996
(11,410)

14,171
6,346

0
0

At 31 December 2011
Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale
Transferred from retained earnings

37,659
599

2,035

2,444
1,469

-

40,103
2,068
2,035

At 31 December 2012 40,293 3,913 44,206

The Bank’s general reserve is maintained for meeting any unforeseeable risks or contingencies that do not 
qualify as provisions for impairment and is normally built-up from those released impairment charges during 
the year.

25. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are analyzed as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Cash on hand
Investments maturing up to 1 month:
 Bank balances
 Held-to-maturity portfolio

2

18,225
182,500

4

11,884
114,321

Cash and cash equivalents 200,727 126,209

The commercial papers held in the Bank’s portfolio and issued by other financial institutions were rated at a 
minimum of A1 by Standard and Poor’s or P1 by Moody’s, in accordance with internal financial policies.
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26. Staff Retirement Plan
At normal retirement age (60 years), a staff member is entitled to a pension equal to 1% of his pensionable 
salary (i.e. average of the two best out of the last five years) multiplied by his/her years of service at the Bank, 
under the defined benefit scheme. Also upon retirement, a staff member will be entitled to receive in cash the 
full balance standing to the credit of his/her individual account for the second and third pillars.

Defined Benefit Scheme
The defined benefit scheme covers all eligible employees of the Bank. A qualified actuary performs an actu-
arial valuation of this scheme at each end of year using the projected unit method, which is rolled forward to 
the following year accounts. The most recent valuation date was 31 December 2012. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation and current service cost was calculated using the projected unit credit method.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position

Present value of the defined benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets

12,381
(9,382)

7,935
(7,788)

Unrecognized actuarial (losses) gains
2,999

(2,240)
147
694

Net liability
Expenses for the year
Past service obligation
Contributions paid

759
985

82
(1,067)

841
970

69
(1,039)

At end of year 759 841

Amounts recognized in the income statement

Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of unrecognized gain
Past service obligation

950
396

(425)
-

64

826
354

(374)
-

164

Total included in personnel expenses 985 970

Principal actuarial assumptions used

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Future salary increase
Future pension increase
Average remaining working life of employees

3.85%
3.85%
2.50%
2.00%

11 years

5.00%
5.11%
2.50%
2.00%

12 years

The discount rate arises from the yield curves that use data from double A-rated iBoxx bond indices produced 
by the International Index Company.

The expected return on assets as per provision of the revised IAS 19, has been set equal to the discount rate 
assumption, i.e. 3.85% pa.

Notes to the Financial Statements



87

The following table presents the major categories and reconciliation of the plan assets:

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Major categories of plan assets

Cash instruments
Fixed interest
Equities
Other

15%
49%
29%

7%

21%
54%
19%

6%

Reconciliation of plan assets

Market value at 1 January
Expected return
Contributions paid
Fund benefits
Expenses
Asset gain (loss)

7,788
425

1,067
(49)
(97)
248

6,860
374

1,039
(137)

(93)
(255)

Fair value of plan assets 9,382 7,788

The actual investment return on assets of the Fund was 8.2%. The expected return on plan assets has been 
based on asset structure allowed by the Fund as well as the yield of high quality corporate bonds. The Bank 
estimates contributions to be paid in 2013 will not materially differ from those paid in the current year.

The funding status at period end and at the end of the last four years was as follows:

Presented in EUR (000) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Defined benefit obligations
Plan assets

12,381
(9,382)

7,935
(7,788)

7,095
(6,860)

5,967
(5,851)

4,431
(4,835)

Plan deficit (surplus) 2,999 147 235 116 (404)

Net experience adjustments on plan
 liabilities (assets) 3,183 (275) 177 677 (295)

Defined Contribution Scheme
The pension expense under this scheme was EUR 845 thousand (2011: EUR 487 thousand) and is included in 
“Personnel expenses.”

Greek State Social Insurance Fund
The pension expense of staff that is alternatively entitled to retirement benefits from this fund was EUR 109 
thousand (2011: EUR 133 thousand) and is included in “Personnel expenses.”
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27. Operating Leases
The Bank has entered into lease contracts for its Headquarters and other premises. These are operating leases 
and include renewal options and periodic escalation clauses. There is no commitment at end of year for non-
cancellable lease contracts. Rental expenses for the year included in “Other administrative expenses” totaled 
EUR 831 thousand (2011: EUR 882 thousand).

28. Related Parties
The Bank has the below related parties.

Key Management Personnel
Key management personnel comprise: the President, Vice Presidents, and Secretary General. They are enti-
tled to a staff compensation package that includes a salary, covered by medical insurance, participate in the 
Bank’s retirement schemes, and are eligible to receive other short term benefits. The amounts paid to key 
management personnel during the year were EUR 1,189 thousand (2011: EUR 1,200 thousand). Key manage-
ment personnel do not receive post employment benefits, other long term benefits, termination benefits, nor 
any share based payments.

The members of the Board of Directors are not personnel of the Bank and do not receive any fixed term sala-
ries nor any staff benefits. The governments of the Member States are not related parties.

Special Funds
Special funds are established in accordance with Article 16 of the Establishing Agreement and are adminis-
tered under the terms of rules and regulations adopted by the Bank. Special Funds are audited on an annual 
basis and their assets and fund balances are not included in the Bank’s statement of financial position. During 
2012, the Bank administered two special funds. Extracts from the audited financial statements are included 
under the “Summary of special funds.”

29. Events After the Reporting Period
There are no other material events after the reporting year that would require disclosure or adjustment to 
these financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements



89

30. Summary of Special Funds
With the Hellenic Government
The Technical Cooperation Special Fund’s objective is to contribute to the economic development of the Black 
Sea Region’s Member Countries. The Fund extends technical assistance grants for preparation of high qual-
ity project documentation including business plans, feasibility studies, and financial reporting methods and 
standards. The movement in the Fund is shown below.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Statement of movements

Balance brought forward
Net income for the year
Less: disbursements

345
1

(55)

406
3

(64)

Balance of available funds 291 345

Financial position

Placements with other financial institutions 291 345

Total Assets 291 345

Unallocated fund balance 291 345

Total Liabilities and Contributor Resources 291 345

With the Development Bank of Austria
The Technical Cooperation Special Fund’s objective is to cover reasonable technical cooperation activities in 
the Bank’s member countries, with a strong potential to generate an opportunity for the Development Bank 
of Austria to co-finance a project in the private sector in connection with a technical cooperation activity. The 
movement in the Fund is shown below.

Presented in EUR (000) At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

Statement of movements

Balance brought forward
Net income for the year
Less: disbursements

332
1

(15)

354
1

(23)

Balance of available funds 318 332

Financial position

Placements with other financial institutions 318 332

Total Assets 318 332

Unallocated fund balance 318 332

Total Liabilities and Contributor Resources 318 332
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND GOVERNORS OF THE 
BLACK SEA TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial state-
ments of the Black Sea Trade and Development 
Bank (the “Bank”) which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2012 and the 
statements of income and comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting pol-
icies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as manage-
ment determines is necessary to enable the prepa-
ration of financial statements that are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit.  We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from mate-
rial misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures select-
ed depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or er-
ror.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of ac-
counting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the finan-
cial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a ba-
sis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of Black Sea 
Trade and Development Bank as of 31 December 
2012 and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Independent Auditor’s Report

26 April 2013

KPMG Certified Auditors A.E. 
Athens, Greece
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Annex A

Organizational Chart

As of 31 December 2012
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Annex B

Contact BSTDB
1 Komninon str.  54624 Thessaloniki ·Greece

 +30 2310 290400     +30 2310 221796, 286590

info@bstdb.org    www.bstdb.org

Andrey Kondakov
President
Office: 
 +30 2310 290560

op@bstdb.org

Office of the General 
Counsel
Michalis Spanopoulos
General Counsel
 +30 2310 290412

mspanopoulos@bstdb.org

Policy and Strategy
Ghinea Arminio Iorga
Head
 +30 2310 290452

gaiorga@bstdb.org

Panayotis Gavras
Head
 +30 2310 290453

pgavras@bstdb.org

Evaluation 
Todor Dimitrov
Head
 +30 2310 290403

tdimitrov@bstdb.org

Internal Audit 
Pavlos Pavlides
Head 
 +30 2310 290583

ppavlides@bstdb.org

Compliance & Operational 
Risk Management Office
Zinon Chatziantonoglou
Head
 +30 2310 290421

zchatziantonoglou@bstdb.org

Mustafa Boran 
Vice President Banking
Office: 
 +30 2310 290407

vpboffice@bstdb.org

Financial Institutions I
Nejdet Sarisozen
Director
 +30 2310 290427

nsarisozen@bstdb.org

Financial Institutions II
Andrey Butin
Director
 +30 2310 290447

abutin@bstdb.org

Energy & Infrastructure 
Roman Matkiwsky
Director 
 +30 2310 290441

rmatkiwsky@bstdb.org

General Industries,
Transport, and Tourism I
Alexey Alekseev
Director
 +30 2310 290496

aalekseev@bstdb.org

General Industries,
Transport, and Tourism II
Orhan Aytemiz
Director
 +30 2310 290439

oaytemiz@bstdb.org

Vitalii Mygashko
Vice President Operations
Office: 
 +30 2310 290433

vpooffice@bstdb.org

Project Implementation & 
Monitoring
Alexander Mostovoy
Director
 +30 2310 290430

amostovoy@bstdb.org

Financial Analysis
Michelle Amour
Director
 +30 2310 290460

mamour@bstdb.org

Environment
Mircea Cojocaru
Head
 +30 2310 290585

mcojocaru@bstdb.org

Valentina Siclovan
Vice President Finance
Office: 
 +30 2310 290444

vpfoffice@bstdb.org

Treasury
Christopher Best
Treasurer
 +30 2310 290456

cbest@bstdb.org

Risk Management
George Pahinis
Director
 +30 2310 290462

gpahinis@bstdb.org

Accounting, Planning, & 
Budget
Nikolas Papavramides
Director
 +30 2310 290449

npapavramides@bstdb.org

Controllers
Georgeta Buzica
Director
 +30 2310 290470

gbuzica@bstdb.org

Orsalia Kalantzopoulos
Secretary General
Office: 
 +30 2310 290481

sgoffice@bstdb.org

Human Resources
Eduard Katmazowski
Acting Director
 +30 2310 290405

ekatmazowski@bstdb.org

Information Technologies
Christos Georgiou
Director
 +30 2310 290530

cgeorgiou@bstdb.org

External Relations & 
Communications
Valery Aksenov 
Director
 +30 2310 290494 

vaksenov@bstdb.org

Administrative Services
Kostis Zevgaridis
Director
 +30 2310 290488

kzevgaridis@bstdb.org




